
Please ask for Amanda Taylor: Telephone 01775 764837 
e-mail: amandataylor@sholland.gov.uk

REVISED
AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 17 February 2015 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: G A Porter (Leader of the Council), C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the 
Council), P S Przyszlak (Deputy Leader), M G Chandler, R Gambba-Jones, H R Johnson, 
C J Lawton and G J Taylor.

No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 4.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Date:   10 February 2015



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 13 January 2015 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
1 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest. 
(Members are no longer required to declare personal or prejudicial 
interests but are to declare any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interests that 
are not currently included within their Register of Interests.

Members are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not to 
participate in the whole of an agenda item to which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  In the interests of transparency, 
members may also wish to declare any other interests that they have, in 
relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan principles detailed 
within the Code of Conduct.)   

4. Questions raised by the public under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4. 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Financial Performance Quarter 3 2014-15 - This report provides 
information on the draft year end financial position of the Council, as at 
30 December 2014. For information and to approve recommendations.  
(Joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic 
Services and the Executive Director (Place) (S151) enclosed.)

(Pages 
7 - 26)

8. Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan and Draft Corporate Plan - 
To consider the Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Corporate Plan.  (Joint report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Finance and Strategic Planning, the Portfolio Holder for Internal 
Services, Performance & Business Development and the Executive 
Director (Place) (S151) enclosed.)

(Pages 
27 - 
130)

9. Write Offs - To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts.  (Joint report 
of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 
and the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer) enclosed.)

(Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not 
for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to 
any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity 
of an individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda as 
Item 12.)

(Pages 
131 - 
134)



10. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16 of 
the Constitution’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules.

11. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

12. Write-Offs Appendix (Pages 
135 - 
140)



This page is intentionally left blank



- 26 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 13 January 2015 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader of the Council)

C N Worth (Deputy Leader 
of the Council)
P S Przyszlak (Deputy 
Leader)

M G Chandler
R Gambba-Jones
H R Johnson

C J Lawton
G J Taylor
M D Seymour

Junior Portfolio Holders: A Casson, P E Coupland, S-A Slade, 

The Executive Director (Place), the Democratic Services and Legal Manager, the 
Corporate Improvement and Performance Team Leader and Principal member 
Services Officer. 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors A R Woolf 
(Junior Portfolio Holder) and A Harrison (Chairman, Policy Development Panel) 
together with Inspector Jim Tyner (Lincolnshire Police) and Lisa Barwell (Citizens 
Advice Bureau.   

In Attendance:  Councillors B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit) and A M Newton (Independent Group 
Leader).

Community Representatives:   Councillor Reginald Boot (Parish Councils) and Harry 
Drury (Chamber of Commerce).

Action By
33. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2014 were signed by the 
Leader as a correct record. 

34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No interests were declared. 

35. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER CABINET 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.4 

No questions were raised under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4. 

36. MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN 

There were no matters subject to call-in. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 27 -

CABINET - 13 January 2015

37. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels. 

38. QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Internal Services, Performance and Business Development 
and the Executive Director (Commissioning and Governance) 
which provided an update on the delivery against the 2011-2015 
Corporate Plan for the Quarter 2 period (1 July 2014 to 30 
September 2014).

The Quarterly Performance Overview report, attached as 
Appendix A within the report, provided councillors and residents 
with information about the Council’s delivery against its Corporate 
Priorities and on the Council’s Corporate Health.

Members referred to the performance indicator relating to the 
number of successful Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
sanctions and prosecutions.  It would be the last time that this 
performance indicator was reported, as the Department for Work 
and Pensions had taken responsibility for benefit fraud 
investigation on 1 October 2014.  However, the Council was still 
active in local fraud investigation.  Special initiative funding was 
available from the Government and the Council was working with 
Lincolnshire County Council in a bid for funding.

Members also discussed the performance relating to missed bin 
collections. It was noted that an IT system would assist with the 
identification of genuine missed collections.  Whilst it was 
accepted that there would always be a few missed collections, the 
actual numbers were currently very low with the aim of getting 
them as close to zero as possible.

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments.

Reasons for decision:
 No recommendations were made.  The report was for 

information and to be noted only.) 

JW 

Page 2



- 28 -

CABINET - 13 January 2015

39. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) DRAFT 2015-16 
ESTIMATES 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Housing Landlord and the Executive Director (Place) which 
sought consideration of the draft service estimates for 2015-16 
and approval of the proposed rent and charges increases.

The appendices, attached within the report, outlined the draft 
2015-16 revenue and capital estimates for the Housing Revenue 
Account; the outline capital programme through to 2019-20 and 
the 30 year HRA operating account.

A question was raised about asterisks shown in the table relating 
to Capital Programme in paragraph 9 of Appendix A.  Councillor 
Przyszlak agreed to explain the meaning of the asterisks at the 
Council meeting on 21 January 2015.

RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL:

a) That the draft Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2015-16 
be approved;

b) That the proposed average rent increase of 2.2% be 
approved and the statutory period of notice is served on 
tenants; and

c) That the HRA Intensive Landlord service charges, 
transitional scheme, heating, water and room hire charges 
be approved.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments.

Reasons for decision:
 To comply with the budget and policy framework.) 

RS PP 

40. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND 
DRAFT CORPORATE PLAN 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic Finance and Strategic Planning, the Portfolio Holder 
for Internal Services, Performance and Business Development 
and the Executive Director (Place) (S151) which sought 
consideration of the Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan 
and Corporate Plan.

The financial documentation and Corporate Plan were attached 
as appendices A – I within the report.

Page 3



- 29 -

CABINET - 13 January 2015

Councillor Alcock informed the Cabinet that a special joint 
meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel was held on 12 January 2015.  The 
comments made on the documents would be fed into the formal 
consultation process.

DECISION:

That the contents of the draft Budget, Medium Term Financial 
Plan and Draft Corporate Plan be noted. 

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments.

Reasons for decision:
 To comply with the budget and policy framework.) 

JR, MF 

41. WRITE OFFS 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Deputy Leader 
and Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Strategic Planning 
and the Finance Manager which recommended writing off 
irrecoverable debts.

A breakdown of the individual debts were attached as item 13 
within the agenda, which was not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information).

Members agreed that, as only the principles of the report would 
be discussed rather than individual cases; there was no need for 
the meeting to go into private session.

In considering the figures, members noted that the final sum was 
made up of not just the amount owed but also the costs of trying 
to recover the debt. 

DECISION:

That the following debts be written off: 

Council Tax £9,052.26
Business Rates £3,390.59
Accounts Receivable £17,585.88
Former Tenant Arrears £3,086.67
Housing Benefit Overpayments £0

MW 

Page 4



- 30 -

CABINET - 13 January 2015

Total £33,115.40

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing; or
 Approve the recommendations with amendments

Reasons for decision:
 All recovery methods available had been considered and 

where appropriate pursued before making the decision to 
write off.) 

42. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 6.45 pm)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on 15 January 2015.  In accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, come into 
force and may then be implemented on Friday 23 January 2015 (i.e. after the expiry 
of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during that 
period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and complies 
with the requirements of Rules 15(b), (c) and (d) of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules is served on the Democratic Services and Legal Manager 
requesting that the decision be called-in and the Democratic Services and Legal 
Manager approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly 
be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 21 January 2015.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services and the 
Executive Director (Place) (S151)

To: Cabinet – 17 February 2015

(Authors: Alison Harrison-Wild, Business Partner CPBS and Mark Finch, Shared 
Finance Manager)

Subject: Financial Performance Quarter 3 2014-15 

Purpose: This report provides information on the draft year end financial position of the 
Council, as at 30 December 2014.  For information and to approve 
recommendations.

Recommendation: 

a) That the report and Appendix 1 be noted;

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the full year financial performance for four separate 
areas.

 Revenue Budget incorporating Spalding Special Expenses and the Housing 
Revenue Account

o Forecast Revenue outturn for 2014-15
o Significant variances
o Reserve levels

 Council Tax and Business Rates
o Forecast outturn against budget
o Five Year Capital Programme and Financing

 Capital
o Forecast outturn against budget
o Five Year Capital Programme and Financing

 Treasury
o Security of investments
o Liquidity levels
o Yield levels
o Borrowing

1.2       Appendix A sets out the forecast financial position to the end of the financial year, and 
identifies key variances from budget. The budget for future years has been amended to 
recognise where these costs and savings are ongoing. Overall it is expected that there will 
be an overall in-year saving against budget of around £578k. It is proposed that this amount 
is set aside at year end to provide the resources for a transformation programme to deliver 
a balanced and sustainable budget over the medium term. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7.



1.3 The figures included in this report provide information on spend to date, informing a revised 
forecast of our budget requirements for the remaining year. In accordance with good 
professional practice we will use this updated third quarter position as the basis from which 
we plan for the next budget cycle across both the short and medium term. This approach 
places our financial planning for the coming financial year and beyond on the soundest 
possible footing.

1.4 The main revenue variances to highlight from appendix A are:
 In year savings against the revenue budget of £578k overall.
 Additional £40k development control fees forecast 
 Additional cost pressures as late delivery of new refuse vehicles has meant that 

savings from leases and maintenance costs of freighters has been delayed, 
although this is partially offset by reductions in fuel prices and vehicle tyres.

 A reduction in Housing General Fund Spending as closer scrutiny of budgets has 
adjusted forecasts in line with more realistic spending levels 

1.5 One of the key areas of uncertainty relates to appeals against rateable values for business 
premises, with the potential for successful appeals being backdated for a number of years. 
The most significant risk to South Holland District Council relates to the two power stations, 
which are subject to a national valuation tribunal hearing that will affect all gas-fired power 
stations. While the decision from the hearing (which took place in October) was originally 
expected to be announced in January 2015, to date there has been no confirmation of the 
decision. This will determine whether the council will have to repay business rates collected 
from the power stations and how much we will be able to collect in the future. Any reduction 
in rateable value will also have an ongoing detrimental impact on the business rates that 
the council is able to retain

1.6 Development Control is seen as one area which has seen significant growth in activity over 
the past couple of years. It is proposed that additional income is set aside to ensure that the 
service has appropriate resources to deal with the increased activity and to reduce the risks 
to the council in this highly technical service

1.7 Reserve balances – Table 5 shows healthy reserve levels.

1.8 HRA – The practice of automatically rolling over unspent capital projects at year end has 
led to a situation where it was infeasible to complete all projects, leading to another 
underspend at the year-end. The HRA capital programme has been re-profiled to provide 
programme of schemes that can realistically be delivered in-year, leading to a spending 
reduction of £4.180m in 2014-15. 

1.9 General Fund Capital – This has also been re-profiled with a focus on deliverability.

1.10 Treasury Management – Additional interest earned resulting from interest rate yield 
exceeding target as well as re-profile of the capital programme 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed in appendix 1 with 
amendments; and

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in appendix 1.

2.3 Do Nothing

Page 8



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall finances of the Council and to 
make the best use of resources available.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure that Members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial position and 
to act on any budget amendments required to reflect the latest position of spend and 
income.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included within the appendix.

5.8 Risk Management 

5.8.1 Risks are highlighted within the appendix.

5.9 Staffing

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

Page 9



5.11 Health & Wellbeing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Budget implications affect all wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy Executive Director (Place) (Section151)
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers both Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services. 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 - Financial Report for the quarter ending 30 December 2014

Page 10



 

1

APPENDIX 1

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the quarter ending December 2014 

This report has four sections

 Section 1 – Revenue budget
 Section 2 – Council Tax and Business Rates
 Section 3 – Capital budget
 Section 4 – Treasury update

Section 1 - Revenue Budget

General Fund

The table below details the forecast outturn against the approved budget for 2014-15.  
This is calculated by taking expenditure and income up to 30th December 2014 and 
budgeted income and expenditure for the remainder of the year.  Significant 
variances to the approved budget are detailed in Table 2.  Overall the forecast 
estimates the General Fund to return budget savings of £578,000, which also 
includes the additional expenditure for town clean up operation (£100k) approved in 
Quarter one. 

Budget Managers have been more engaged in forecasting anticipated variances 
during 2014-15 and are being more realistic reflecting budget savings and not just 
concentrating on reporting budget pressures as in previous years. 

Table 1 –Revenue Outturn 
 
Forecast outturn against budget = 95.56%

Page 11



 

2

Table 2 – Significant Variances 2014-15 Forecast outturn

Page 12



 

3

Planning Income
Planning application income is forecast to be £40k additional to budget.  Power station
and Solar Farm income is not thought to be as significant as 2013-14 but the service 
remain optimistic. This is being reviewed monthly. It has been agreed that 
additional income now identified will be invested in Planning Service delivery.

Recycling and Refuse Fleet
In Quarter two it was reported there had been a delay in the delivery of the new 
vehicles. This has still not been completely resolved. Budgets were estimated on the 
provision of new vehicles and cessation of the old contracts, which included leased 
costs and maintenance savings. There are ongoing negotiations with the supplier to 
see if compensation will be made for late supply. The service were forecasting a 
cost pressure of £35k in Q2 which has been increased to £65k following continued 
delays. Maintenance costs are also forcing a cost pressure of £56k. This situation is 
being closely monitored. 

Funding
Table 2.1 shows the funding side of the General Fund and the forecast variance 
against the 2014-15 budget, which includes Business Rates and additional funding 
from the various Government departments. The funding, collection fund and NNDR is 
being monitored in year. It was expected a more accurate position would be available 
at Quarter Three following the outcome from the power companies’ valuation 
appeals. However the final decision has yet to be announced. 

The forecast shows renewable energy disregard (£193k) released into the general 
fund from 2013-14, now that the accounting treatment has been clarified. This is 
offset by reduced s31 grant £61k and new homes bonus adjustment grant £30k.  
Additional funding has come from the 2013-14 Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool 
closure payment £24k and additional council tax freeze grant £8k. This giving net 
budget savings of £63k. At quarter two we reported savings of £91k, the difference 
being mainly due to reduced s31 grant forecast.  

Table 2.1

Page 13



 

4

New Homes Bonus
The New Homes bonus does not support the base budget and the movement to 
reserves will be £30K lower than the original budget because of the reduction in the 
adjustment grant.

Revenue and Benefits
The table below reflects the effect of the welfare reforms against the Revenues and 
Benefits budgets, showing forecast against a revised budget.  Recovery of Housing 
benefits overpayments and court income has risen over the last two years and has 
been monitored throughout the year. An assessment has been made at Quarter 
three and the court income forecast has been reduced by £20k and an additional 
£100k for overpayments. As a result of increasing court income, the bad debt 
allowance has been increased by £36k. Additional new burdens grants not estimated 
for at budget setting result in an additional (£10k) which may be called upon by the 
Revenues and Benefits department for additional case load and ICT. In addition to 
£32k reported in Q2, a further £8k has been received for the old scheme council tax 
benefit adjustment. This gives net budget savings of £62k above savings reported in 
Quarter Two.

Table 2.2

Table 3 – Other Budget Items

Page 14



 

5

Other budget items are shown in the table below: 

Efficiency grant reported as an additional £22k in quarter two was actually rolled 
up into the RSG settlement and therefore only £4k is shown as additional income, 
correcting a forecast shown in Table 3 at Quarter Two for other budget items.

Actions/Decisions

 To note the forecast outturn position on the 2014-15 revenue budget. 

Recommendations
 There are no recommendations at quarter 3

Table 4 – Virement Decisions Required

 Supplementary Budget virements for approval £’000
0

Net total 0
.
Actions/Decisions

 There are no actions/decisions at Quarter Three

Recommendations
 There are no recommendations at Quarter Three

Table 5 – General Fund Reserve Balances

The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at March 2015. The 
balances within the table are funds that can be used to finance both revenue and 
capital expenditure, for example, one-off invest to save projects and to meet 
expenditure arising from unexpected events.

Budget Managers have been asked to confirm their intended use of earmarked 
reserve during 2014-15 so that budget virements can be made to revise the budget in 

Page 15



 

6

year. If Managers do not estimate to use the reserve during the financial year, the 
funds will not be released into budget. This is monitored in year by the S151 Officer 
and Finance Manager. 

The council tax reserve balance of £4.062m in the table above, includes the transfer 
of new homes bonus grant £2.831m, which has accumulated in this reserve since the 
new homes bonus scheme was introduced in 2011.

Actions/Decisions

 To note the forecast unallocated reserve balances at March 2015
 The above table includes a transfer of £31k to the capital programme for the 

contribution to CCTV, from the council tax reserve approved at Cabinet
February 2014

Recommendations
 There are no recommendations at Quarter three

Spalding Special Expenses
Expenditure relating to Spalding Special expenses forms part of the Council’s 
General Fund budget and is included in Table 1 above. The approved budget for 
2014-15 is £206,405 of which £193,100 is funded by Spalding Taxpayers and the 
remainder by council tax support grant. The Band D charge for the financial year 
being £23.22.This is detailed in table 6 below.
The forecast outturn for 2014-15 shows a £5.8k over spend to the revised budget in 
the table below, which includes Christmas lights expenditure approved to drawn from 
reserve. This is expected to decrease if further budget savings can be made in other 
Spalding Special Expense areas.

Table 6 – Forecast Revenue Outturn  

Page 16



 

7

Reserves 
The Council maintains an earmarked reserve relating to Spalding Special Expenses. 
The unspent budget at the year end is transferred into the reserve which can then 
used to meet expenditure arising from unexpected events and to cover any future 
deficit which may arise.  
Notional depreciation is shown in the above relevant Spalding Special accounts, 
which is then earmarked in reserve for future capital expenditure. The earmarked 
capital reserve is set up to fund future capital expenditure. Depreciation is notionally 
charged to Spalding Special against the relevant service headings and then as part 
of the accounting treatment is transferred to the capital reserve. £33,805 from the 
individual budget headings will transfer to the earmarked reserve at the end of the 
year.

Cemetery
Cemetery Income is forecast to be £4k over spend at year end with hardwiring 
testing expenditure has been forecast at £2k. Budget savings are forecast in 
premises to partly offset this.  £2,500 notional depreciation will transfer to reserve, 
shown in the Cemetery budget, but forecast within the contribution to reserves 
(£33,805).

Ayscoughfee Playing Field
Additional Income from putting, bowls and tennis are forecast to be £1k over the 
income budget due to a higher footfall than expected.

Page 17



 

8

Halley Stewart
Health and safety works to the Halley Stewart playing field reported as a £10k 
additional works in Quarter two, is now forecast to be contained within existing 
budgets, from utilities savings and additional income from floodlights.

Monkshouse Playing Field
Response maintenance at Monks house playing field has forecast additional 
expenditure due to vandalism, including roller shutters £1.9k. £2,300 notional 
depreciation will transfer to reserve, shown in the Monkshouse budget, but forecast 
within the contribution to reserves (£33,805).

Christmas Decorations
An element of the reserve £5,710 has been set aside for the instalment removal and 
storage of the Christmas Decorations for Spalding town centre.  An additional £3,750 
was approved in Quarter one, shown in the revised budget above. £13,200 notional 
depreciation will transfer to reserve, shown in the Christmas Decorations budget, but 
forecast within the contribution to reserves (£33,805).

Contingency
The reserve balance also includes a contingency equal to 5% of 2014-15 budgeted 
expenditure.  Any variations from the budget or use of the Spalding Special 
Expenses Reserve recommended from the Spalding Town Forum would need to be 
approved by Cabinet/Council. 

Actions/Decisions

 To note the forecast outturn on Spalding Special Expenses for 2014-15

Recommendations
 There are no recommendations at this stage

Page 18



 

9

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
The HRA is on target to deliver a budget surplus.  The table below details the full 
year forecast outturn against the approved budget for 2014-15. 

Table 7 –Forecast Revenue Outturn

General variances
At Quarter three the HRA has a forecast surplus outturn of £1.163 m. Set against the 
original budget deficit of £830k and approved capital rollover of £2.253m and £62k 
additions in year, this represents a variance of £4.308 m. There is some risk 
associated to potential downward revaluations on HRA non dwelling properties, such 
as community centres and garages. If the valuation at year end produces a 
downward valuation (which occurred in 2012-13) this would have an actual impact on 
the HRA. The property market will be closely monitored, but final values will not be 
known until the valuation carried out at year end.

Housing Rents
At this stage it is estimated housing rents are on target. A summary of performance is 
shown in table 7a.

Sheltered Housing
2014-15 is the first year of the new sheltered housing service, no longer being 
financed by supporting people grant. This is being closely monitored to ensure 
service charges are set appropriately. 

Page 19



 

10

Housing Strategy
Housing strategy budgets are being monitored in year and are being used to support 
the housing growth initiative. It is forecast that this budget will under spend by £51k 
other miscellaneous expenses, £14k computer hardware maintenance and £19k 
professional fees, shown above in Table 7.

Construction Services Unit
The Construction Services Unit are reporting an increase in kitchen and bathroom 
upgrade work on void properties. This forms part of the expenditure in the capital 
programme. Gas servicing is also forecast to overspend by £20k, but this is to be 
contained within existing budgets.

Table 7a-Key performance Indicators (HRA)
Rents are being closely monitored with regard to welfare reforms and the economic 
climate. The following table shows the percentage of income collected at week 40 
Indications show future weeks exceeding the target, which shows continuous 
improvement compared to last year. 

Key performance 
Indicator

Year end
2013-14

Current 
months 
target

Collection
performance 

2013-14 
Week 40

Collection
performance 

2014-15 
Week 40

% of income collected

98.31% (March 
2014) 95.71% 

average 97% 98.21% 99.79%

Bad Debt write off £25,940  £16,940 £9,510

The HRA Capital Programme is reported in Table 11 within the Approved Capital 
Programme.

Table 8 – Unallocated HRA Revenue Reserves

The table below shows the unallocated reserve balance as at 1st April 2014, forecast 
until the end of the financial year. The balances within the table are funds that can be 
used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, for example, one- off invest to 
save projects and to meet expenditure arising from unexpected events.

Page 20



 

11

Actions/Decisions

To note the forecast outturn position on the 2014-15 Housing Revenue Account.

Recommendations

Please see the HRA recommendations under the Capital Programme (Section 3)

Section 2- Council Tax and Business Rates

Council Tax

2014-15 In-Year Collection
The anticipated impact on in-year collection rate due to changes to the Council Tax 
Support scheme is not currently showing in the collection rates, compared to 
previous years.  
At the end of December 2014, the collection rate was 86.29%, against a collectable 
debit of £37.8m.  
Table 3 below, compares the collection rate against last financial year

Page 21



 

12

Table 9 – December 2014 in-year collection position against 2013

Oct Nov Dec
 

Year 
% 

Collected
% 

Collected % Collected
2013-14 67.95% 77.08% 86.14%
2014-15 67.74% 77.02% 86.29%

Business Rates

2014-15 In-Year Collection

At the end of December 2014, as shown in Table 3 below, the collection rate was 
85.03% against a collectable debit of £26.5m.

This is the first year businesses have been able to choose to pay their business rates 
over 12 monthly instalments, rather than the usual statutory 10 months.  Due to a 
number of ratepayers, with large rateable assessments, opting to do this it will impact 
on the cash flow and monthly collection rates compared to the previous year.  This is 
reflected in the performance in the following table. 

Table 10- December 2014 in-year collection position against 2013

Oct Nov Dec
 

Year 
% 

Collected
% 

Collected % Collected
2013-14 70.19% 79.37% 88.29%
2014-15 67.70% 75.75% 85.03%

Actions/Decisions required
That the position at Quarter 3 for the Council’s 2014-15 Council Tax and Business 
Rates to be noted.

Recommendations

There are no recommendations as at Quarter 3

Section 3 – Capital Budget 
This section reports on:

 Quarter 3 actuals against 2014-15 approved capital programme

Page 22



 

13

 Risks, issues and key messages

Table 11 – Quarter 3 expenditure against 2014-15 approved capital programme

This is to be resourced by:

Source of Financing Latest
Approved

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000
Use of Capital Receipts 224 220
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,780 1,137
Direct Revenue Funding/Use of Reserves 10,619 6,279
Borrowing 1,512 1,541
Total 14,135 9,177

The original budget was approved at Council in February 2014. Further amendments 
have subsequently been made to the revised budget (Latest Approved), reflecting 
previous year incomplete schemes brought forward and changes to schemes during 
quarter 1.

Spend against latest approved       48.7%

Forecast Outturn £9,177,000

Page 23



 

14

Spend against forecast outturn           75.0%

Explanation of changes to the latest approved budget

A full review of the Capital Programme has been undertaken by managers in 
conjunction with the Section 151 Officer, with the objective of reflecting a level of 
expenditure that will be delivered given the resources, both internal and external, 
available to the Council. The priority of our capital programme will be 
deliverability, to ensure the best use of the Council’s limited resources. 

In addition to the review, Members are asked to the note the following

 A budget of £108,000 has been added for CCTV which was approved by 
Cabinet in February 2014. This is financed from the Council Tax Reserve and 
by external funding.

 A budget of £51,000 has been added for perpetual licences for the AIM 
system. This is to be financed from revenue resources.

 £30,000 has been transferred from the Housing Site Enhancement budget to 
finance floor remedial works within the HRA.

 
Actions/Decisions

To note the re-profiled capital programme

Recommendations

 There are no recommendations at Quarter Three

Section 4 – Treasury

This section reports on:
 Security, Liquidity and Yield of Investment portfolio
 Current Debt Position
 Risks, issues and key messages

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as 
Officers believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational 
strategy to manage risk as conditions change.

The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset Services 
which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating 
calculated for each financial institution.

All investments held by the Council are within the recommended maximum duration.  

Page 24



 

15

The instant access funds previously held with National Westminster Bank have now 
been withdrawn as the rate of interest payable on the account has been reduced 
from 0.50% to 0.25%. A small amount of interest (£1,912.57) remains in the account 
to keep the account open.  

Counterparty Exposure

Barclays Bank

CCLA

Goldman Sachs International

Lloyds Bank

National Westminster PLC

Nationwide BS

Royal Bank of Scotland

Svenska Handelsbanken

Liquidity

Cash

The Council’s average level of deposits during the first half of the financial year was 
£25.8m. As at 30 December the Council had £7.72m instant access cash available to 
meet cash flow requirements.  The table below shows the amounts held in relation to 
the remaining period to maturity. 

0
1,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
6,000,000
7,000,000
8,000,000
9,000,000

£

C
al

l

< 
1

M
on

th

1-
3

M
on

th
s

3-
6

M
on

th
s

6-
9

M
on

th
s

9-
12

M
on

th
s

> 
12

M
on

th
s

Maturity Period

Maturity Structure of Investments

Yield

Page 25



 

16

Budgeted Interest 2014-15          £114,300 
Actual Interest as at Q3 2014-15          79,800
Forecast interest 2014-15          £150,000 

*Interest is apportioned between the General Fund and HRA. The forecast at Quarter 
3 is estimated at General Fund £112k and Housing Revenue Account £38k.

Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.42%
Actual Yield as at Q3 2014-15  0.663%

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its 
obligations under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a 
period of 50 years on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has 
been undertaken during quarter 3.

Actions/Decisions required

That the forecast position for the Council’s 2014-15 Treasury outturn be noted.

Recommendations
There are no recommendations as at Quarter 3.

Page 26



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Strategic Planning, Portfolio Holder 
for Internal Services, Performance & Business Development and the 
Executive Director (Place) (S151)

To: Cabinet 17 February 2015 

(Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager and Mark 
Finch – Finance Manager)

Subject: Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan and Draft Corporate Plan

Purpose: To consider the Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan and Corporate 
Plan 

Recommendations to Full Council: 

1) That the General Fund revenue estimates (Appendix A), use of reserves (Appendix D) and 
Fees and Charges (Appendix H) be approved;

2)  That the Council Tax for a Band D property in 2015-16, to be set at £154.84, be approved;

3) That the Spalding Special Expenses estimates (Appendix C) be approved;

4) That the Spalding Special Expense for a Band D property in 2015-16, to be set at £23.10, be 
approved;

5) That the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendices A and B) be approved;

6) That the Capital Strategy and Programme (Appendices E and F) be approved, including the 
delegation to the Chief Executive to purchase land or property assets that support the 
Council’s priorities;

7) That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, including the Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy and Annual Investment Strategy (Appendix G) be approved;

8) That the authority extends its discretionary business rates relief scheme to include the 
extension of transitional relief to business premises with a rateable value equal to or less that 
£50,000 in accordance with Government guidelines, delegating to the Section 151 Officer the 
development and inclusion of an addendum to the current Discretionary Rate Relief Policy to 
cover this scheme; and

9) That the Corporate Plan and priorities be approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report and its appendices outline the Corporate Plan and priorities (2015-19); revenue 
and capital estimates for the General Fund (2015-16); the proposals for the setting of 
discretionary fees and charges; the outline position to 2018-19; the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) and the Capital Strategy.

Page 27

Agenda Item 8.



1.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan sets out the framework within which the budget is to be 
set to ensure that it enables the Council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The capital 
strategy sets out the framework for the capital budget setting.

1.3 During recent years the council, alongside many public sector service providers, has 
experienced a period of unprecedented financial pressure, including in various 
combinations; public sector funding cuts as part of our national austerity measures, all time 
low returns on cash deposits and a national economic downturn affecting jobs, housing and 
business growth.  During this same period the basis on which the public sector is funded 
has undergone substantial reform; radical changes that affect the Council’s financial 
funding position (directly and indirectly) include National Welfare Reform, Localisation of 
Council Tax Relief, Business Rates Retention and New Homes Bonus.  In addition, there 
has been the reduction and in some cases, the removal of a range of grant funding 
sources. Each change bringing elements of uncertainty in terms of impact.

1.4 In keeping with many local authorities, the challenge the council faces to identify savings in 
the future becomes increasingly difficult and complex as the need to deliver further 
efficiencies continues.  Against this backdrop, Members will recall the basis of the budget 
setting for 2014-2015, which utilised reserves in the short term.  This was as an integral 
part of a clear financial strategy to identify and deliver the more complex transformational 
changes in the medium and longer term, which are required to meet the significant financial 
challenges of future years.

1.5 Securing a sustainable financial position across the medium term remains a key challenge 
for the future. In keeping with good financial practice, to secure this longer term stability the 
council will focus its future financial strategy on the medium term. This will drive a shift in 
our financial focus, away from the traditional incremental approach to annual budgeting to a 
more strategic outcome focussed approach.

1.6 Delivering efficient and effective services that represent value for money remains a critical 
aspect of our business. To continue to drive down costs whilst maintaining our service 
commitment will demand innovative approaches to service delivery alongside a commercial 
focus to maximise our income in order to continue to provide the widest benefit to our 
communities.

1.7 In the draft budget which South Holland District Council consulted on, the authority was 
able to present a balanced budget for 2015-16 using an element of New Homes Bonus 
(which is the funding received as a result of successful delivery of housing growth in the 
district) and additional income from new trading opportunities. Additional retained business 
rates and service cost savings meant that the authority was able to remove the speculative 
income planned to be generated from these new trading activities which have not yet 
received formal approval. This made the budget for 2015-16 more robust. However, 
ongoing negotiations with the County Council about the future of recycling in Lincolnshire 
and changes to the scheme of recycling credits has meant that, at the eleventh hour, a 
potential £211k cost pressure has emerged as it is looking more likely that recycling credits 
will be withdrawn in 2015-16 and the parachute payments originally proposed to assist 
districts with the transition to the new arrangement have been considerably scaled back in 
2015-16, and withdrawn in future years.  It is proposed that this cost pressure is 
provisionally funded from a contribution from reserves, should it be necessary, as the 
Council is required to set a balanced budget in 2015-16.

Page 28



1.8 There has been limited feedback from the public consultation on the budget, with one 
correspondent querying some of the expenditure in the Spalding Special Expense. It is not 
proposed to change the overall precept for Spalding, but the Spalding Forum will have the 
opportunity to suggest virements within the budget once it has had the opportunity to 
consider the consultation comments. Any virements could be approved by Cabinet and 
would not need to come back to Council.

1.9 The transitional business rates relief scheme was introduced in 2010 to help those 
business ratepayers who were faced with higher bills.  The scheme ends on 31 March 2015 
and as a result a small number of ratepayers will face a jump to their full rates bill from 1 
April 2015. The government announced in the Autumn Statement on 3 December 2014 that 
it will extend to March 2017 the current transitional relief scheme for properties with a 
rateable value up to and including £50,000. The guidelines attached in Appendix I provides 
details of the scheme.

1.10 Any reliefs awarded by the council will be reimbursed through Section 31 grant and will 
therefore not have an adverse impact on the authority’s finances. The government is not 
changing legislation to extend transitional relief available for small premises, therefore it will 
be for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and decide in each 
individual case when to grant relief. It is proposed that the council supports this government 
policy by extending its discretionary business rate relief policy in accordance with the 
attached guidelines, and include an addendum to the current Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy to cover this scheme.

1.11 Corporate planning is a key part of running a successful organisation.  A corporate plan 
ensures:

a. Everyone in the organisation is working to the same priorities, pulling in the same 
direction and clear about what they are trying to achieve

b. It helps ensure that risks are effectively managed
c. It provides a tool to measure performance, success and hold people to account
d. It enables the organisation and its managers to plan resource and the budget more 

effectively

1.12 The Council has an existing Corporate Plan that runs from 2011 to 2015.  As this expires 
shortly, a new Corporate Plan has been drafted in order to set the vision for the 
organisation.   Four priorities are proposed:

a. To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities whilst 
protecting the most vulnerable

b. To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive

c. To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way
d. To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

1.13 These priorities will be supported by a series of Critical Activities that the Council will 
undertake.  The progress of these will be monitored through the Corporate Delivery Plan 
and Performance Management Framework.  Progress will be reported on a quarterly basis 
to Scrutiny Committee and to Cabinet.

1.14 A consultation exercise on the draft Corporate Plan has now been concluded. Feedback 
has been considered and changes have been made as appropriate in the final document 
(Appendix 1). The majority of changes made to the document as a result of the 
consultations were minor wording amendments to clarify or strengthen the emphasis of the 
Council’s corporate vision throughout.

Page 29



1.15 The following more significant changes have been made to the Corporate Plan as a result 
of the consultation exercise:-

a. The ‘Vision and Priority’ page has been restructure to give greater emphasis and 
focus on the Corporate Vision and Priorities.

b. The ‘Finance’ page has been restructured to give a clear and more accessible 
picture of the council’s financial position over the next four years.

c. The ‘Digital Age’ page has been reformatted to make it similar to the rest of the 
document whilst making it more visually interesting to draw the reader’s attention. It 
was felt this was necessary to promote its status as one of the key elements of the 
Council’s proposed transformation programme.

1.16 The existing corporate plan 2011-15 has been closed down and a review of achievements 
undertaken with key accomplishments being included within the proposed new plan as ‘We 
have’ sections.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, medium term financial plan and capital 
strategy are noted as part of the consultation.  Any feedback as a result of the consultation 
will be considered before the final position is presented to Cabinet and Council in February.

2.2 There are no alternative options presented.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To set an affordable and balanced budget for 2015-16 which delivers on the Council’s 
priorities.

4.2 To set a clear direction for the Council resulting in improved transparency and clearer 
objectives being able to be set for all employees.

4.3 The revised Performance Management Framework will ensure that the delivery of these 
priorities will be able to be more effectively measured and monitored.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

Page 30



5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 Approval and ratification of a final Corporate Plan will set the Council’s priorities and the 
Critical Activities that support their delivery.  The budget should support the Council’s 
priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The report is of a financial nature and all implications are covered within the appendices.

5.8 Risk Management 

5.8.1 Risks have been given careful consideration and have been reported within the 
appendices.

5.9 Staffing

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.10.1 The main Corporate Plan will be taken to Overview Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet in 
January 2015.  There will be public consultation via appropriate routes, alongside the draft 
Budget.  The final Corporate Plan will be taken to Full Council on 25 February 2015.

5.11 Health & Wellbeing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 As this sets the direction of the Council going forward, all wards and communities are 
indirectly impacted.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 BPI – Basic Performance Increase
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
CLG – Communities for Local Government
CMT – Corporate Management Team
LABV - Local Asset Backed Vehicle
LCTRS – Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme
LEGE – Local Enterprise Growth & Efficiency
LEP – Local Enterprise Partnership
NHB – New Homes Bonus
NNDR/NDR – National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates)

Page 31



NPDO – Non Profit Distributing Organisation
PFI – Private Finance Initiative
PRP – Performance Related Pay
RSG – Revenue Support Grant
S31 – Section 31of the Local Government Act 1972
VFM – Value for Money

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:  Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager and Mark Finch, 
Shared Manager - Finance
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk. mark.finch@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – Budget estimates and medium term financial plan
Appendix B – General Fund Summary
Appendix C – Spalding Special Expenses
Appendix D – Reserves 
Appendix E – General Fund Capital Programme
Appendix F – Capital strategy
Appendix G – Treasury management Strategy Statement
Appendix H – Fees and Charges
Appendix I – Government Guidelines - Extension of Transitional Relief for small and 
medium properties
Appendix J – Corporate Plan

Page 32

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:mark.finch@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


- 1 -

APPENDIX A

General Fund Budget 2015-16 and Financial Medium Term Plan
 2015-16 to 2018-19.

This appendix is the combined budget estimates and Medium Term Plan 2015-19.  
The Medium Term Plan is the link between the Corporate Plan, which sets out the 
aims and ambitions agreed with our partners, and the Medium Term Financial Plan 
which sets out the current and forecast future costs of the services the Council is 
currently providing.  The plan also establishes a set of financial policies and principles 
which provide a sound basis for maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over 
the medium term. The Housing Revenue Account estimates and business plan are 
dealt with under a separate report following scrutiny by Governance and Audit 
Committee.

1. Budget Summary

The following table shows the headline figures relating to the budget estimates for 
2015-16 compared to the 2014-15 position:

Description
2014-15

£’000
2015-16

£’000
South Holland precept requirement * 3,980 3,980
Local Government Settlement-RSG 3,392 2,381
Local Government NNDR baseline 2,980 3,037
Retained Business Rates (NNDR)  Income and S31 
Grant 764 932
Collection Fund (Deficit) NNDR (95) (272)
Community Right to Bid and Challenge 16 16
Council Tax Freeze Grant 39 47
New Homes Bonus applied - 262
Special expenses account 193 195
Collection Fund Surplus C Tax 42 75

Council Tax Band D £155.61    £154.84    
Tax Base 25,579 25,767
Band D cost per week £2.99 £2.98

*Of all the homes in our area 59.46% are in Band A or B, and 84.12% are in Bands A to C. 
Therefore the majority of homes pay less than the £2.98 per week Band D equivalent towards 
the District services

Page 33



- 2 -

The following table details the Band D Council Tax levels for all precepting authorities 
over the last nine years:

 
Lincs County 

Council
Lincs Police 

Authority

South Holland 
(excl special 
expenses) Average Parish Total

  Increase  Increase  Increase  Increase  Increase
 £ % £ % £ % £ % £ %

2005-06
    

899.82 4.90%
 

119.43 6.42%
 

134.56 4.75%
 

19.81 2.96%
 

1,173.62 5.02%

2006-07
    

944.73 4.99%
 

125.37 4.97%
 

140.28 4.25%
 

23.12 16.71%
 

1,233.50 5.10%

2007-08
    

987.21 4.50%
 

131.58 4.95%
 

145.19 3.50%
 

23.68 2.42%
 

1,287.66 4.39%

2008-09
 

1,021.77 3.50%
 

165.78 25.99%
 

149.18 2.75%
 

25.55 7.90%
 

1,362.28 5.80%

2009-10
 

1,039.68 1.75%
 

174.06 4.99%
 

153.13 2.65%
 

26.50 3.72%
 

1,393.37 2.28%

2010-11
 

1,065.69 2.50%
 

179.28 3.00%
 

157.03 2.55%
 

27.35 3.21%
 

1,429.35 2.58%

2011-2
 

1,065.69 0.00%
 

179.28 0.00%
 

157.03 0.00%
 

28.04 2.52%
 

1,430.04 0.05%

2012-13
 

1,065.69 0.00%
 

186.39 3.97%
 

156.60 -0.27%
 

31.94 4.10%
 

1,440.62 0.74%

2013-14
 

1,065.69 0.00%
 

190.08 1.98%
 

156.15 -0.29% 33.26 4.13%
 

1,445.18 0.32%

2014-15
 

1,065.69 0.00%
 

193.86 1.99%
 

155.61 -0.35% 34.94 5.05%
 

1,450.10 0.34%

The following chart shows the Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish precepts) 
for Lincolnshire Councils for 2014-15

0

50

100

150

200

250

Lincoln West
Lindsey

Boston South
Holland

North
Kesteven

South
 Kesteven

East
 Lindsey

Band D Council Tax by authority (2014/15) excluding 
Parish Precepts

Page 34



- 3 -

2. 2015-16 Estimates

The table below shows the budget estimates for 2015-16 by type of 
expenditure/income split over the standard CIPFA classifications.  Notes explaining 
the major variances between the two years are given below the table.

Appendix B shows the General Fund estimates over the medium term.  

Explanation of Variances

Employee Related Expenses
Increase is as a combined result of incremental pay progression, national pay award 
and changes in structure to support service delivery in Planning and Environmental 
Services. There is a 2% vacancy factor built into the estimates. The budget also 
includes the additional resources which have been funded by the Waste Collection 
Support Grant, Grants for Growth and Planning grant. The national pay settlement has 
now been agreed at approximately 2.2% from 1 January 2015 to 31 March 2016. 
Actual pension contributions are based on 17.5% of gross pay plus an increasing lump 
sum amount currently agreed to 2016-17. 

Page 35



- 4 -

Premises Related Expenses 
The main variances are savings made in utilities, business rates (£18k), premises 
insurance (£12k) and responsive repairs (£40k). These savings are as a result of 
comprehensive analyses of prior year’s outturn and current year actual expenditure. 
There will also be a further assessment of the planned and response maintenance 
programme, of which the planned repairs is funded by the repairs and renewals 
reserve.A proportion of the footway lighting is now charged to the HRA £38k.

Transport
The Council has adopted a prudent policy of replacing previously leased commercial 
vehicles previously leased in Environmental Services with outright purchase of wholly 
owned new vehicles. Revenue savings arising from this are reflected within transport 
costs (£154k) alongside slightly increased maintenance costs of £4k. Fuel budgets 
have been reduced by £37k in line with 2013-14 outturn, with current fuel price 
reductions being monitored on an ongoing basis. Savings have been made where 
possible on leased car, mileage and lump sum budgets.

Supplies & Services
Main variances in supplies and services include additional expenditure all funded by 
income, Waste Incentive grant, Health promotion grant and Grants for Growth.
Delegated members ward budgets have been maintained at £5k for each member. 
The funding mechanism has been adjusted slightly with £3k new revenue funding and 
the remaining £2k funded from the earmarked reserve once members have fully 
committed their initial £3k. 
Impairment allowance for bad debts increases the supplies and services budgets by 
£86k which is partially offset by housing benefit overpayments and court income. 

Course fees have been centralised into the Human Resources training expenses 
shown under employee expenses. This will enable better monitoring in year and 
ensure fair access to training for all, as opposed to smaller service area budgets.

Third Party Payments
This budget includes contractual commitments to both Compass Point Business 
Services and Lincolnshire Legal Services. Compass Point has been budgeted at 5% 
savings year on year, in addition to a £50k non-recurring contract cost. Contract 
inflation has been added at 1% in 2015-16 and 1.5% in 16-17. Inflationary pressure of 
£20k for the Leisure Contract is offset by (£8k) savings estimated for Lincolnshire 
Legal services.
 
Transfer Payments
These budget variances include the payment of Rent allowances £597k and Rent 
Rebates £1.509m, reflecting current case loads. Additionally it covers grants and 
contributions paid where the Council does not benefit from the provision of a service 
(£134k), including the ‘Grants for Growth’ project. Housing benefit payments are 
funded through Government subsidy and are included under Grants, Contributions and 
Reimbursements. 

Other variances are Grants for Growth expenditure offset by income, rent allowances 
and rent rebates. Budget savings have been made in areas where possible. 

Page 36



- 5 -

Transfer to and from earmarked reserves
Movements from reserves are higher than 2014-15 due to investment in the County 
wide Broadband capital scheme £607k and £272k for smoothing the business rates 
collection fund deficit and a contribution of £262k from the new homes bonus.  The 
contribution from reserves also reflects £211k that may be required to fund a potential 
reduction in recycling income which is currently subject to negotiation with Lincolnshire 
County Council. This amount, if required, is set aside in the Organisational 
Development reserve, from budget challenge budget savings. Further details on 
reserve contributions are detailed in the reserve section below.

Rents Rental income has increased by (£53k) which is mainly due to additional third 
party properties being managed by the Council. Maintenance costs are shown in 
premises expenditure. 

Fees & Charges

Fees and charges have been reviewed as increased where the market permits and in 
accordance with individual fees and charges policies.

Recycling Credits
Ongoing negotiations with the County Council about the future of recycling in 
Lincolnshire and changes to the scheme of recycling credits has led to some late 
changes in the budget. It is anticipated that recycling credits will cease 31st March 
2015 and it is estimated a dampening payment will be paid for the first three months to 
the value of £70,500.  The impact on the budget is £254,100 in 2015-16 and then 
continues at a pressure of £324,600 per annum with existing recycling credits not 
being replaced by other sources income. The authority has been able to partly fund 
this reduction in income through other savings and income sources, but there remains 
a potential gap of £211k if this scenario plays out. A provision to fund this gap in 2015-
16 through reserves has been factored into the budget. 

Waste Supplementary services will continue as part of an arrangement with LCC for 
providing a Saturday morning service. Income has been budgeted at £40k.

Planning application fees have been estimated to increase from £475k in 2014-15 to 
£600k in 2015-16 providing additional income of £125k. Fixed term additional 
resources have recently been agreed to cover the extra demands of the service.

Court income and is expected to increase by £100k offset by increases in housing 
benefits overpayments of £50k and an estimate for the impairment allowance of bad 
debts shown under supplies and services.  
 

Page 37



- 6 -

Grants, Contributions & Reimbursements
This includes additional Government subsidy for rent allowance subsidy payments 
(£593k), rent allowances HRA (£1.5m) offsetting costs included in Transfer Payments 
above. Additionally this includes reprofiled Government grants reimbursements and 
contributions, such as the Grants for Growth project and Waste Incentive grant £712k. 
Housing Benefit Admin grant has impacted on the budgets by being an £85k cost 
pressure. 

Recharges
Recharges will be reviewed as part of  the final budget setting process and include 
recharges to the Housing Revenue Account, to reflect its share of the Corporate and 
Democratic Core and its share of support services. 

3. Principles of Budget Preparation

The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process in order to:
o Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue 

and capital estimates.
o Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources.
o Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities.

Budget principles:
o Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are 

prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items.
o Central items are calculated by the CPBS accountancy team.  The central items 

include items such as: salaries, insurance, support service recharges, capital 
accounting entries, interest paid and received, pensions, National Insurance 
(NI), special expenses, mobiles phones and postage.

o The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a 
provision made for future years, based on national guidance (taking into 
account any Central Government policies).

o Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as 
provided by Human Resources and have been signed off by budget managers.  
These estimates include an allowance for employers NI, superannuation 
contributions and lump sum amounts. 

o  Budget Managers have signed off the salary allocations, so expenditure occurs 
where officer time is spent, within in each service area;

o Controllable expenditure is defined as expenditure on employees, premises 
(excluding business rates), transport, supplies and services, but excluding 
internal recharges.

o There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or related to salaries.
o We should seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital 

resources and ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are 
sufficiently scoped to allow delivery.

o A review of fees and charges to ensure optimisation of income where consistent 
with policy.

o Some service areas of high or unpredictable spend in previous years have been 
considered in detail others remain largely viable budgets and have not been 
zero based

Page 38



- 7 -

o Working papers have been prepared by budget managers for each controllable 
budget. This will assist future challenge. 

o To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on General Balances.
o To work towards a zero balance on the collection fund.
o Only the 2015-16 budget will be formally approved, future years are indicative 

only for both revenue and capital but form an important picture of our financial 
sustainability.

4. Grant Settlement Assumptions

On the 18 December 2014, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government announced the provisional 2015-16 settlement. This determines how 
much grant central government will give to each local authority.  The Final Local 
Government Settlement for 2015-16 will be confirmed February 2015. Variations from 
the provisional settlement are expected to be relatively small, and therefore will any 
adjustments required will be made through appropriations to or from the Council Tax 
Reserve. 

Only a small amount of the Local Government Settlement is now received in the form 
of Revenue Support Grant (RSG).  Instead of receiving a fixed funding amount from 
government, from 1 April 2013 we are now reliant on a new model which is geared 
towards the local raising of funds.  Changes to schemes in respect of non-domestic 
rates (NDR) and localised council tax reduction scheme (LCTRS) have brought a 
greater degree of risk and variability to the Council’s funding.

Under this government policy a proportion of NDR income is retained by district and 
county councils through a system of top-ups and tariffs.  The remaining NDR income is 
centralised by government and distributed back to local authorities through the formula 
grant process, thus allowing the government to retain a proportion of business rates 
centrally to meet public expenditure targets.  This formula grant element has previous 
specific grants “rolled into” it (eg. the council tax freeze grant and the homelessness 
prevention grant).  Whilst the headline figures of this scheme quote a 40% share of 
NDR income retained by district councils, in reality this is not the case.  The tariff 
system reduces the NDR income retained by South Holland to a “baseline funding” 
figure calculated by government which is actually around 12.5% of the overall NDR 
income collected by the Council.

As well as the potential for the authority to attract additional income through retained 
business rates there is also the risk of uncertainty through a reduction in the amount of 
business rates that it collects. One of the key areas of uncertainty relates to appeals 
against rateable values for business premises, with the potential for successful 
appeals being backdated for a number of years. The most significant risk to South 
Holland District Council relates to the two power stations, which are subject to a 
national valuation tribunal hearing that will affect all gas-fired power stations. The 
decision from the hearing (which took place in October) was expected to be 
announced in January 2015, but as yet details have not been forthcoming. This will 
determine whether the council will have to repay business rates collected from the 
power stations and how much we will be able to collect in the future. Any reduction in 
rateable value will also have an ongoing detrimental impact on the business rates that 
the council is able to retain.

Page 39



- 8 -

Any growth over and above the NDR income that Government has assumed for 2013-
14 is shared between central and local government, with our local share equating to 
20% of the total growth. Whilst in the first year we used the Government target figure 
for retained NDR, this year we have forecast collection amounts to set a budget for the 
amount the district council will retain.  These forecasts are based on actual amounts 
collectable at October 2014 which are then adjusted for local knowledge (i.e. for 
appeals, charitable relief, etc) and uplifted by an inflationary increase to allow for the 
increase in NDR multiplier each year.  

It is likely that Revenue Support Grant will continue to be reduced over the coming 
years, as greater emphasis is placed on generating business rates growth and 
increasing the taxbase through encouraging the development of additional homes and 
bringing privately owned empty homes back into use.  

The table below shows the estimated level of budgeted central grants

A number of specific grants have been rolled into the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
and Business Rates Baseline Funding. The funding assumptions used in the medium 
term plan for future years beyond the Local Government Settlement are based on the 
Local Government Association’s (LGA) modelling tool. 

CLG has announced continuation of the council tax freeze grant.  This funding 
provides authorities with the equivalent of a 1% council tax increase if council tax is 
not increased in 2015-16. 

The New Homes Bonus scheme commenced in April 2011. For 2015-16, South 
Holland’s allocation will be £1.362m. This scheme is designed to provide incentives 
and rewards for councils and communities who build houses in their area. This is 
modelled to increase by net stock additions in 16-17, once the housing company starts 
to develop.

Annual grant allocations will be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve for one-off 
schemes and projects, and will not be used to support the base budget.

5. Collection Fund

Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund.  In 
the current difficult economic climate, the Medium Term Plan target is to have a 

Page 40



- 9 -

minimal balance on the Collection Fund, forecasting a zero balance in future years. 
Figures indicate an NNDR deficit of £272k and a £75k surplus for council tax and a 
zero balance in future years.  

 
6. Tax Base

Delegated authority has been given to the S151 Officer to approve the taxbase, as 
legally the taxbase can only be set in the window 1 December to 31 January.  
Council on 17 December 2014 confirmed the local council tax support scheme for 
2015-16. This is a continuation of the 2014-15 scheme with up-rating for working age 
claimants, and limits the level of Council Tax Support award to 75% of entitlement for 
those who do not receive protection. Protection for pensioners and war widow(er)s 
continues. 
 
In 2015-16 the Council will pay grants totalling £29k to parishes as part of the 
transitional arrangements for implementing the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
This will be the final year for this payment.
 
The tax base for all parishes will be included in the Council Tax Setting report, to be 
approved at Full Council in February 2015.

7. Other Budget Assumptions

The budget estimates and Medium Term Plan cover the period 2015-16 to 2018-19. 
Over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs 
rise or fall. This section details the key assumptions made.
The key assumptions used are:

o Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which they 
are approved.

o There will be allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 
obligations and contractual inflation) but will not allow for any increase for 
general inflation.

o Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service budgets 
were produced for the previous year (2014-15) which will then be adjusted to 
reflect the changing financial circumstances that the public sector is required to 
prepare for.

o Where service delivery is dependent on a specific grant we will only assume 
continuation of the grant and expenditure where such notification has been 
received.

o Council tax levels are estimated to reduce by approximately 0.5% in 2015-16 
and freeze the years after

o Details on the grant settlement and assumptions made are shown in section 4.

The key assumptions made for the setting of these budget estimates, which influence 
the four year financial plan are as follows:

Page 41



- 10 -

2014/15 2015-16 2016-17 2017/18 2018/19

RPI 2.5% 2.9% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
National pay increase 1% 2.2% 1.5% 2% 2%
Staffing Salary Level 98% 98% 98% 98% 98%
Pension contribution rate 25.8% 17.5% 

plus 
£297k

17.5% 
plus 

£326k

17.5% 
plus 

£326k

17.5% 
plus 

£326k
Tax base 25,579 25,767 26,069 26,261 26,454

Council Tax 155.61 154.84 154.84 154.84 154.84

8. Future Developments

The Universal Credit is due to be rolled out nationally between February 2015 and 
March 2016 as part of a package of measures under the Welfare Reform Act. It will 
change the way that benefits (including Housing Benefits delivered by local authorities) 
are administered. It is not yet clear what role local authorities will have in this 
administration, or what the financial consequences will be. This implementation will 
occur in 4 tranches. While it has been confirmed that South Holland will not be in the 
first tranche, it is not clear when the changes are likely to impact the district 

Government is creating a centralised fraud service as part of preparations for 
Universal Credit, with staff being transferred from local authorities.  As a result 
Housing Benefit (HB) admin grant is expected to reduce by 20% in 2016-17.

9. Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is shown below:
1) To manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and 

focusing the budget on corporate priorities and in so doing, recognise the 
intrinsic link between this strategy, the Capital Strategy, and the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

2) Adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide 
strong timely budget control.

3) Use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote 
electronic record keeping and approval processes.  Ensure financial 
performance reporting remains integrated with financial reporting and business 
planning.

4) Ensure there is a rigorous scrutiny of the financial planning process and work 
towards a more effective consultation process to engage the public and 
stakeholders.

5) Maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities 
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure.

6) Operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s 
corporate objectives.

7) Undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure and 
report the risks to Members as part of the budget setting process (see section 
14).

Page 42



- 11 -

8) Manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better 
sustainable outcomes and efficiencies for local people.

9) Set realistic targets for trading accounts and if services fail to achieve these 
they will be subject to a more fundamental review.

10) Aim for a minimum balance on the Collection Fund.
11) Prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the 

next five years.
12) Promote take up of benefits and reliefs.
13) Maximise income collection.
14) Recognise our role in the community throughout and beyond the period of 

economic hardship by providing assistance to individuals, groups and 
businesses.

A key aspect of the Council’s strategy to cope with the financial challenges that it 
faces was the creation of Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd, 
(CPBS), a company jointly owned with East Lindsey District Council. This innovative 
development is designed to deliver greater efficiency in the provision of back office 
services. The company is established to provide Information Technology, Human 
Resources, Financial Services, Customer Services and Revenues and Benefits. It is 
projected to make savings totalling over £30m over a10 year period, with South 
Holland’s share being in excess of £10m.
These strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the relevant 
departments.  The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying principles can 
be monitored by key outputs such as:

o Annual audit letter
o Financial plan
o Governance and Audit Committee reports
o Annual Governance Statement (AGS)
o Grants returns submitted to deadlines
o Governance and performance reports

A funding gap has been identified in 2016-17 and beyond, which will need to be 
addressed in order to present a balanced and sustainable budget and medium term 
plan. The graph below shows the cost pressures increasing and government funding 
reducing over the medium term. 

9,400

10,400

11,400

12,400

13,400

14,400

14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19

Net Cost
of
Services

Total
Income

 
Full consideration of transformational efficiencies focussed on digitalisation alongside 
important income generation opportunities and alternative revenue funding sources 
will be given to address the authority’s immediate funding needs to ensure that the 

Page 43



- 12 -

Council has a balanced budget in 2015-16 and a sustainable position across the 
medium term

2014-15 Outturn

A proactive approach to ensure reliance can be placed on the quarter 3 forecast has 
been adopted. In line with good practice this early assessment of the 2014-2015 
outturn will inform the reliance that can be placed on the baseline used for the 2015-16 
estimates.

At December 2014 (Quarter Three) an estimated underspend of £578,000 was been 
forecast for 2014-15. In preparing the budgets for 2015-16, services have reflected the 
on-going pressures and savings in their new budget estimates.  

11. Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates

Outline estimates through to 2018-19 are shown in Appendix B. In compiling these 
figures we have followed the assumptions shown in sections 4 and 7 of this report and 
made specific adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have 
advised of a change over the medium term.

In addition significant reductions in expenditure or increases in income will be required 
from 2016-17 onwards, to take account of the reductions in Government funding. 

Income from trading activities has been shown as a separate line in Appendix B as 
2016-17 £417k, 2016-17 £512k and 2017-18 £138k which includes items such as  
indicative income from the housing growth company draft business plan, which is 
subject to approval . 

 Work has been carried out to challenge budget costs in order to reduce both in-year 
and on-going base budgets without impacting on core service levels. However the 
Council will experience increasing inflationary pressures on core budgets and 
continuing reductions in government grant funding, as well as further uncertainty on 
business rates retention. These factors will require the Council to consider policy 
changes if it is to rise to the challenge and balance its budgets in the medium term. An 
efficiency and income generation programme is currently being developed to reduce 
the funding gap which will in turn underpin a sustainable financial position. 

 A number of potential schemes to generate savings and increased income have been 
explored at officer level. However these ideas and others will be examined further 
during budget consultation and beyond to determine Council’s appetite to introduce 
such changes. Areas to consider which currently have a high level of spend or will 
require a greater review to reduce costs and provide services differently 

 Consideration of fees and income policies (including Internal review and 
benchmarking exercise)

 Review of public owned assets including a strategic asset plan review
 Grants Review 
 Alternative management models for key assets 
 Further shared service opportunities

Page 44



- 13 -

 Growth opportunities including generating income streams from asset 
ownership

 Green Waste and further waste opportunities
 Housing Growth Company

Spalding Special Expenses are a separate charge to the residents of Spalding for 
services provided in their town and are charged as a supplement to the main council 
tax. The Spalding Special Expenses budget for 2015-16 is estimated at 
£195,000(2014-15 £193,100). The tax base used for 2015-16 is 8,423 (2014-15 
8,316). A proportion of the Council Tax Support Grant Funding has been allocated to 
finance Spalding Special expenses in order to maintain the current Band D charge at, 
with a 0.52% reduction (2014-15 £23.22) £23.10. 

Detailed estimates are shown at Appendix C. 

The Council’s 2015-16 budget and forward estimates include amounts for Internal 
Drainage Boards (IDB). These are levies charged to the authority over which the council 
has little control and form part of the revenue budget. For 2015-16 £2.298m (2014-15 
£2.243m) has been included. 
 
12. Fees and Charges

Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the 
Council.  Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, 
controlling access, responding to competition, funding investment and affecting public 
behaviour.

As part of our overall income strategy we will seek to:
o Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings and continue to attract 

rental income by optimising the usage of office space at Priory Road.
o Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base 

budget for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall 
upon the Council Tax payer

o Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services
o Ensure that statutory charges are implemented
o Monitor compliance with the corporate charging policy and corporate debt policy
o Set targets for income collection and level of arrears and monitor performance 

against these targets.
o Treat windfall income as a corporate resource
o Use enforcement remedies effectively
o Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses

Fees and charges have been reviewed and updated where necessary. Demand for 
services has also been reviewed and changes in demand have also been reflected in 
the budgeted level of fees and charges income. Appendix H outlines the proposals for 
fees and charges.

In total £3.161m (2014-15 £3.354m) is due from fees and charges in the 2015-16 
budget. The chart below shows the main categories of budgeted fee income in 2015-
16 (and 2014-15 for comparison).  

Page 45



- 14 -

Fees & Charges Comparisons 2014-15 & 2015-16

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

Car Parking Licensing South Holland
Centre and TIC

Building Control Development
Control

Markets Land Charges Recycling
Income

Service

Es
tim

at
e 

£'
00

0

Estimate 14/15

Estimate 15/16

13. Reserves and Balances

In order to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
Council undertakes a review of the level of reserves as part of the annual budget 
preparation.  It is therefore a target of our medium term plan that a review of reserves 
is carried out and reported to Cabinet for consideration.  The review includes analysis 
of current and future risk assessments, including an assessment of risk registers, 
pressures upon services, inflation and interest rates and any underwriting 
arrangements.

Appendix D outlines the position statement on reserve balances.  The proposed 
budget does not require any long term support from reserve balances, however the 
challenging economic environment has required us to undertake a robust sensitivity 
analysis should these events require us to draw on balances.  Whilst it is apparent 
these risks could be financially significant, SHDC reserves are at a reasonable level.  
Moving forward the General Fund balance stands at £2.034 which is believed to be 
prudent for the Council at this time. 

We also have a Council Tax reserve with a current balance of £4.605m at 31 March 
2016, taking into account the New Homes Bonus for 2015-16 of £1.1m (£1.362m less 
a contribution of £262k to the budget). This is an important and relatively new revenue 
based funding source. The council has been prudent to date in seeking to strip out 
excessive costs in advance of applying any new funding, as a reserve it can be used 
to smooth out fluctuations and pressures on the General Fund. Continuation of this 
important source of funding policy is uncertain in the face of the forthcoming national 
election.  

This table shows a summary of the estimated New Homes Bonus payments held 
within the Council Tax Reserve over the term of MTFS. 

Page 46



- 15 -

The tables below give a summary of reserve movements:

General Fund Working Balance 14-15 
£'000

15-16 
£'000

16-17 
£'000

17-18 
£'000

18-19 
£'000

Brought forward 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034
In - - - - -
Out - - - - -
Carried forward 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034

These are the observations from the review of reserves for the 2015-16 budget:

o The general fund balance at 1 April 2014 is £2.034m. This represents 
approximately 16.40% of the Council’s net budget requirement and is adequate 
for the Council’s purposes. (update again if changes)

o Transfers to Reserves include an annual contribution of £136,000 to the 
Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve to assist the Council in maintaining 
its asset base. For 2015-16 contributions from the repairs and renewals reserve 
stand at £223,900. 

o The Planning Reserve is to be used to deliver the Local Development 
Framework and fund additional temporary posts.  

o All New Homes Bonus Scheme grant excluding £262k per annum over the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan has been taken into the Council Tax 
Reserve. 

o £241,400 is shown as a movement from the Organisational Development 
reserve, to cover expenditure from the Waste incentive grant, in accordance 

Page 47



- 16 -

with the grant scheme plan. The final amount of £23,100 is also drawn down 
from the recycling contract compensation.

o An amount of £272,376 (2015-16) has been transferred from the council tax 
reserve to smooth the South Holland share of the collection fund nndr deficit.

o An amount of £75,000 has been transferred from the Council Tax reserve for 
the cost of the District elections.

o An amount of £211,000 has been transferred from the Organisational 
Development reserve from budget challenge savings, approved to help balance 
the budget

o An amount of £607,000 has been drawn down from the Capital reserve for the 
Broadband County scheme which had previously been set aside for this 
purpose in an earlier year.

In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the adequacy 
of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial plans and the 
strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council. Following this review, it is 
proposed that the General Fund remains set at a minimum level of £2 m.

14. Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring

The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income 
and expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available.  The 
Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect on 
council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services. Given the 
good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring 
delivered in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced 
budget.   

The following table details the key risks and issues identified and how we intend to 
treat them.

Risk
Likeli-
hood Impact Action

Reduced public sector funding 
from Central Government

High High Keep up to date with developments 
and make prudent budget 
assumptions. 

Low income levels from fees and 
charges

Medium Medium Revise spending plans

Continuation of low interest rates High High Market advice and forecasting.  
Mitigation by diversification

Business rates retention 
proposals leave Council exposed 
to economic fluctuations and 
rating appeals

Medium High Monitor developments & set aside 
appropriate reserves and provisions 
to help with potential initial pressures 
and fluctuations

Pension fund deficit Medium Medium Close  links with LCC pension fund
Increased contributions following 
triennial review

Additional bad debts as a result 
of economic circumstances

Medium Medium Pro-active debt management and pre-
pay fee policies

Increased maintenance costs of 
ageing physical assets

Medium Medium Asset management plan.  Pro-active 
rather than reactive maintenance 
programme

Page 48



- 17 -

Inflation rises by more than 
budgeted projections

Medium Medium Budget assumptions kept up to date 
with most recent projections

Diminishing capital resources will 
mean that borrowing will be 
required at some point in the 
future

High High Continue to closely monitor and 
prioritise the Council's Capital 
Financing Requirement. A radical 
review of the capital programme and 
wish list will be undertaken to inform 
the final budget. Utilise S106 funding 
and revenue reserves where 
appropriate 

Compass Point Business 
Services may be unable to 
deliver an effective service within 
the agreed reduced contract 
price.

Low Medium Reviewing Service Level Agreements, 
activity levels and service priorities

Recycling credit income High High Recycling credit income will cease as 
at 31.3.15 and a way forward is being 
negotiated. There will be increased 
pressures on the services.

Court Income High Low Court income projections are 
considerably increased following 
welfare reforms. However the budget 
has not been increased due to 
concerns over collectability of this 
income. A year-end review will be 
undertaken to inform future year’s 
budgets.

Housing Benefit Overpayments High High The level of Housing Benefit 
Overpayments and their recoverability 
needs to be monitored closely 
through the year in order to ensure 
budget levels are appropriate. 

Universal Credit  High Medium The implementation of the Universal 
credit may impact on the General 
Fund both in terms of running costs 
for the Benefits service and additional 
demand on other council services. 
This will be closely monitored.

Increased risk that liability 
insurance premiums will increase

Medium Low Prepare to go to the market again if 
premiums exceed market trends.

15. Consultation, Timetable and Links to Other Strategies

The budget will be put out to consultation on the website and commentary invited from 
council tax payers, business rate payers and key stakeholders 

It is important to have clear and agreed timetables for the budget process so that 
statutory requirements are met.  Each year a timetable will be agreed with Corporate 
Management Team prior to the start of the process (i.e. around July each year).

The Council has adopted a corporate risk management strategy and financial risk 
management is integrated into the Council’s overall management and decision making 
processes. This ensures a robust and well integrated risk management programme, 

Page 49



- 18 -

which will help the Council to identify and manage key strategic risks facing it, in 
pursuit of its corporate objectives.

A Performance Framework has been developed to manage delivery of the new 
priorities described in the Council’s Corporate Plan. The annual business planning 
process will run alongside the budget setting process to ensure an integrated 
approach of performance and finance.

16. Capital Strategy and General Fund Capital Estimates

The Council’s Capital Strategy (Appendix F) focuses on the core principles that 
underpin capital investment.

The development of a robust five year capital programme is constrained by the level of 
available resources that the Council has at its disposal. 

The existing capital programme (Appendix E) has been amended to reflect revised 
profiling and scheme estimates. A high level summary and associated financing is 
shown below.

The HRA capital requirements will be dealt with separately. 

Capital Programme by Department 14-15
Original
Budget
£’000

15-16

£’000

16-17

£’000

17-18

£’000

18-19

£’000

19-20

£’000
Assets and Property - 99 54 186 - -
Community Development 49 40 - - - -
Environmental Services 2,112 49 - 130 - -
Environmental Health -
Economic Development - 607 - - - -
Housing 442 1,001 451 451 451 451
ICT 80 330 - - - -
Total 2,683 2,126 505 767 451 451

Financing 14-15
Original 
Budget
£’000

15-16

£’000

16-17

£’000

17-18

£’000

18-19

£’000

19-20

£’000
Borrowing 1,512 - - 130 - -
Capital Receipts - 424 25 167
Capital Grants and Contributions 902 1,001 451 451 451 451
Replacement and Refurbishment 
Reserve 30

- - - - -

Organisational Development 
Reserve

- - - - - -

Direct Revenue Financing 239 701 29 19 - -
Total 2,683 2,126 505 767 451 451

Page 50



- 19 -

As part of the 2015-16 budget process Service Managers were asked to submit new 
bids for essential schemes to be incorporated into the Capital Programme over the 
next five years. Each scheme is supported by a capital bid form, formulated where 
appropriate after the consideration of options. The cash flow implications of all 
schemes and the impact on revenue need careful consideration before new schemes 
are incorporated within the capital programme. The joint preparation of both a capital 
and revenue budget should ensure a sustainable position for the Council. 

Due to the constraints around financing, some schemes have yet to be included in the 
Capital Programme that were submitted and will be being reviewed by Finance Board 
to then do a full review of the approved programme and proposed projects to co-
ordinate resourcing requirements with the efficiency programme and deliverability. 

The current programme includes budget and funding for providing grants for carrying 
out disabled adaptations to properties. With the introduction of the Better Care Fund to 
deliver better outcomes and greater efficiencies through more integrated services for 
older and disabled people involving the NHS and local authorities it is likely that the 
current system of disabled facilities grants will fundamentally change from 2015-16 
with pooled budgets being introduced. The capital programme continues to recognise 
these schemes based on the current arrangement; however this will need to change 
once local plans affecting South Holland’s residents are drawn up and adopted.

The HRA capital programme has been dealt with separately with the HRA budget and 
Business Plan.

17. Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy

The Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy (Appendix G) pulls 
together the decisions of capital investment, use of reserves, our cash flow and 
revenue budgets. 

The Treasury Management Strategy covers two main areas:
 Capital plans and associated Capital Prudential Indicators
 Treasury management issues including borrowing and investment strategies 

and associated Treasury Prudential Indicators.

No major changes are proposed to the Treasury Management Policy. The investment 
strategy may be updated in the light of the low returns on investments and the 
opportunities that may arise as a result of the proposed new housing development 
company. It is proposed that the temporary delegation for the property investment fund 
is absorbed as an integral element of the budget framework.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Medium Term Financial Plan Appendix B

Area 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Related Expenditure 6,405 6,694 6,764 6,819 6,928
Premises Related Expenditure 1,051 927 897 823 822
Transport Related Expenditure 1,016 814 814 814 814
Supplies & Services 3,361 3,459 3,324 3,247 3,324
Drainage Board Levies 2,243 2,298 2,344 2,391 2,438
Parish Precepts 603 640 653 666 679
Third Party Payments 2,722 2,711 2,670 2,636 2,602
Transfer Payments 19,784 21,904 21,786 21,434 21,434
Depreciation and Impairment Losses 973 627 567 503 472
Grant payment to parishes 58 29 - - -
Income from other trading activities 0  (417)  (512)  (138) 
Income  (25,480)  (27,228)  (27,126)  (26,808)  (26,808) 
COUNCIL SUB-TOTAL 12,736 12,875 12,276 12,013 12,567

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure 269 701 29 19 0
Capital Charges Contra Entry  (1,158)  (702)  (642)  (578)  (547) 
Minimum Revenue Provision 16 254 250 259 286
Interest on borrowing 34 34 34 34 34
Contributions to Reserves 815 136 136 136 136
New Homes Bonus Contribution to Reserves 1,114 1,100 1,378 1,301 1,081
Contributions From Reserves  (798)  (1,995)  (333)  (162)  (155) 
NET COST OF SERVICES 13,028 12,403 13,128 13,022 13,402
Funding shortfall - 0 (645)  (876)  (1,712) 
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 13,028 12,403 12,483 12,146 11,690

Financing
Local Government Settlement RSG  (3,392)  (2,381)  (1,813)  (1,387)  (979) 
Local Government Settlement NNDR Baseline  (2,980)  (3,037)  (3,160)  (3,273)  (3,391) 
Retained NNDR income and S31 Grant  (764)  (932)  (984)  (994)  (1,004) 
Community Right to bid and challenge  (16)  (16) 0 0 0
New Homes Bonus Grant  (1,114)  (1,362)  (1,640)  (1,563)  (1,343) 
Council Tax Freeze Grant  (39)  (47) 0 0 0
Spalding Special Expenses  (193)  (195)  (196)  (197)  (198) 
Town & Parish Councils  (603)  (640)  (653)  (666)  (679) 
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-NNDR 95 272 0 0 0
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-C Tax  (42)  (75) 0 0 0
SOUTH HOLLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 3,980 3,990 4,037 4,066 4,096

TAX BASE 25,579 25,767 26,069 26,261 26,454

SOUTH HOLLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX 155.61 154.84 154.84 154.84 154.84

PERCENTAGE DECREASE (0.35) (0.50) - - -

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C
 Spalding Special Expenses Account

 2014-15
Budget

£

2015-16
Budget

£

Variance

£
Spalding Cemetery  45,900 54,160 8,260
Spalding Allotments 1,800 2,500 700
      Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens) 11,710 11,510 (200)
      Halley Stewart 30,200 48,400 18,200
      Thames Road 13,470 13,480 10
      Fulney Road 10,320 10,320 0
      Monkshouse Lane 37,310 37,710 400
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 8,500 0
Christmas Decorations 13,200 13,200 0
Contrib. St Mary & St Nicolas Parish Church 750 750 0
Administrative Support 4,690 4,000 (690)
Bus Shelter maintenance 370 370 0
Play Areas 1,000 1,000 0
Spalding Town Centre Promotion 2,930 1,500 (1,430)
Crime prevention 7,700 7,700 0
Chairman’s Special Events 750 750 0
Contribution to Reserves 15,805 2,800 (13,005)
Share of council Tax Reform Grant (13,305) (6,650) 6,655
Use of reserve (17,000) (17,000)
Total Expenditure 193,100 195,000 1,900
Tax Base 8,316 8,443

Council Tax Band D Equivalent 23.22 23.10 (0.12)

Reserve Account (Rounded)

Balance at 1 April (128,195) (128,195)

Use of reserve (inc 14-15 forecast outturn) 32,260
Contribution to Reserve (inc 14-15 forecast 
outturn) (15,805) (36,600)

Balance at 31March (144,000) (132,540)

Earmarked for crime prevention 4,380 4,380

Eamarked for Christmas Decorations 5,710 0

Earmarked for Capital Expenditure 41,130 60,740
Agreed minimum balance 5% of 
expenditure for contingency 10,320 9,750

Available Balance (82,460) (57,670)

Page 55



APPENDIX C
SPALDING SPECIAL EXPENSES ACCOUNT- FIVE YEAR FORECAST

P
age 56



Appendix D

General Fund Reserve Statement - 2015 16 estimates

Reserve 31/03/2013 IN OUT 31/03/2014 IN OUT 31/03/2015 IN OUT 31/03/2016 IN OUT 31/03/2017 IN OUT 31/03/2018 IN OUT 31/03/2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Working Balance 2,034 - - 2,034 - - 2,034 - - 2,034 - - 2,034 - - 2,034 - - 2,034

Specific Reserves
Affordable Housing 118 0 0 118 0 0 118 0 0 118 0 0 118 0 0 118 0 0 118

Capital Reserve 562 200 0 762 0 0 762 0 (607) 155 0 0 155 0 0 155 0 0 155

Climate Change Reserve 44 3 0 47 0 0 47 0 0 47 0 0 47 0 0 47 0 0 47

Community Cohesion Reserve 69 0 (25) 44 0 (25) 19 0 (19) - 0 0 - 0 0 - 0 0 -

Council Tax Reserve 2,078 1,765 (95) 3,748 1,716 (1,402) 4,062 1,100 (557) 4,605 1,378 0 5,983 1,301 0 7,284 1,081 (75) 8,290

Insurance Reserve 257 0 0 257 0 (20) 237 0 (20) 217 0 (20) 197 0 (20) 177 0 (20) 157

Organisational Development Reserve 1,094 1,207 (174) 2,127 38 (533) 1,632 0 (476) 1,156 0 (50) 1,106 0 0 1,106 0 0 1,106

Planning Reserve 313 18 (21) 310 0 (93) 217 0 (75) 142 0 (75) 67 0 (67) - 0 0 -

Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve 358 136 (203) 291 136 (219) 208 136 (224) 120 136 (188) 68 136 (75) 129 136 (60) 205

Section 106 Reserve 11 29 0 40 0 0 40 0 0 40 0 0 40 0 0 40 0 0 40

Spalding Special Expenses 94 50 (16) 128 16 0 144 0 (17) 127 0 0 127 0 0 127 0 0 127

Property Acquisition Reserve - 0 0 - 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 1,000

Emergency Planning Reserve 10 0 0 10 0 0 10 0 0 10 0 0 10 0 0 10 0 0 10
Total Specific Reserves 5,008 3,408 (534) 7,882 2,906 (2,292) 8,496 1,236 (1,995) 7,737 1,514 (333) 8,918 1,437 (162) 10,193 1,217 (155) 11,255

Total General Fund Reserves 7,042 3,408 (534) 9,916 2,906 (2,292) 10,530 1,236 (1,995) 9,771 1,514 (333) 10,952 1,437 (162) 12,227 1,217 (155) 13,289

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E
GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015/16 TO 2019/20

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
Scheme Description Projected

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Asset and Property
Priory Road - Air Conditioning Council Chamber 20 20
West Marsh Road Depot New Roller Shutters 10 10
Leisure Contractor Pool & Hall Works 136 39 29 19 224
Footway Lighting 25 25 50
Integrated Asset management System 25 25
Wardentree Lane Industrial Units - re roofing 47 47
Fleet Road, Holbeach Industrial Unite - re roofing 55 55
Railway Lane, Sutton Bridge Industrial Units - re roofing 65 65

156 99 54 186 496

Community Development
CCTV 108 108
Fulney Field Skate Park 10 10
Ayscoughfee Gardens Tennis Courts Refurbishment 40 40

118 40 158

Economic Development
Creese Drove 60
Broadband Lincolnshire 607 607

60 607 607

Planning
PSICA 22 22

22 22

Corporate Finance
Municipal Bonds Agency 50 50

50 50

Environmental
Holland Road Car Park 12 12
Environmental Health Restructure 54 54
Extension to Spalding Cemetery 49 49
Refuse Freighters 2,110 130 2,240

2,176 49 130 2,355

Housing
Gypsy and Traveller Sites 84 550 634
Disabled Facilities Grants - Private 334 376 376 376 376 376 2,214
Decent Home Grants/Loans 37 75 75 75 75 75 412

456 1,001 451 451 451 451 3,260
ICT
Software
Migration to Exchange 2010 11 11
Microsoft Lync 10 10
2 Factor Authentication 12 12
Perpetual Licences for AIM Income Management 51 51
System Backup upgrade - IT Strategy 30 30
Digital Vision 200 200
Hardware
Replacement of Sharepoint 2003 23 23
PAYE.net/MOTO 5 5
IT Virtual Services Oracle 83 83
Storage Area Network 18 18
Network Upgrade 8 8
Radio Links 9 9
New Tape deck solution for backups 20 20
Oracle Servers 14 14
Juniper Replacement - IT Strategy 15 15
Network upgrades - IT Strategy 25 25
Disaster Recovery - IT Strategy 30 30
Firewall Replacement 30 30

262 330 592

GRAND TOTAL 3,300 2,126 505 767 451 451 7,540

FUNDING
GF Borrowing 1,541 130 1,671
GF - Capital Receipts 85 424 25 167 701
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,130 1,001 451 451 451 451 3,935
Direct Revenue Funding (DRF) 544 701 29 19 1,293
Total Funding 3,300 2,126 505 767 451 451 7,600

Direct Revenue Financing Met From
In Year Revenue 220 84 29 19
Specific Reserves 258 607 - -
R&R 66 10

544 701 29 19

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F

1.0 INTRODUCTION
In line with best practice South Holland District Council (SHDC) renews its 
Capital Strategy on an annual basis, ensuring the strategy maintains a strong 
and current link to our Corporate Plan.  

For the benefit of the reader the strategy has 3 key parts;
 Introduction
 Core Strategy
 Strategic Context 

Please have a read of our strategy, we hope it provides you with the 
understanding you seek with regards to how we will manage the increasingly 
limited capital resources at our disposal to deliver our priorities. 

The Strategy focuses on core principles that underpin capital investment. It 
gives a position statement with regards to capital expenditure and the 
resources available in terms of funding. The Strategy projects where the 
Council will be in five years’ time and importantly how it intends to get there.  It 
also includes some of the key issues and risks that may impact on the delivery 
of the Capital Investment Strategy, and that the correct governance 
framework is in place to ensure the Strategy is delivered.

2.0 CORE STRATEGY

The core strategy explains how we will manage our capital resources to 
deliver our proposed capital programme. 

From 2015-16 to 2019-20 the Council is likely to need investment to advance 
the priorities stated within its Corporate Plan, whilst recognising the reductions 
in funding as a result of the situation in the wider economy. In order to do this 
we will need to deliver efficiencies, seek additional funding, and periodically 
review both the consumption of our capital resources and our stated priorities. 
With fewer resources we may well be unable to maintain assets’ obligatory 
long term maintenance needs. We will manage this through four core 
principles, as set out in Appendix 1. 

3.0 STRATEGIC CONTEXT

3.1 Strategic Links

This strategy is a high level summary of SHDC’s approach to capital 
investment in the future of the district. It is driven by the Corporate Plan which 
lays out South Holland’s visions and priorities. The Corporate Plan is 
supported by Service Business Plans, and is reviewed annually alongside the 
budget setting process to ensure an integrated approach to performance and 

1Page 61



finance. The delivery of our priorities is closely monitored in accordance with 
the council’s performance framework. 

Schemes will be considered for inclusion in the Capital Programme based on 
affordability, value for money and deliverable outputs that meet the authority’s 
Corporate Plan.  

3.2 Capital Resources
Balance of Funding

The Council needs to consider how its future capital requirements can be 
financed. It also needs to consider ways of innovation that maximise 
resources, especially given the expected further reductions in available 
funding over the coming years. The Council is required to have regard to the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to demonstrate that 
proposals are affordable, sustainable and prudent.

A brief description of the resources available to fund capital expenditure is 
given in Appendix 2.

Current Funding Situation

The medium term financial plan details the General Fund Capital Programme 
and financing over the next 5 years, with the HRA capital spending plans 
being contained within its 30 year  Business Plan.

A summary of the combined General Fund and HRA Capital Programme is 
shown below:

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20Resources

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Total Capital 
Programme

9,382 8,096 8,506 8,342 8,446

Finance applied (9,382) (8,096) (8,376) (8,342) (8,446)
Financing to be 
identified - - 130 - -

The Council has limited resources available for funding future programmes. 
By March 2019, the Capital Receipts reserve will stand at an estimated 
£1,000,000.  £365,000 is already earmarked for the Crowland Investment. At 
this stage we have been prudent and have not forecast any additional Capital 
Receipts over the medium term apart from keeping the Right To Buy sales of 
Council Houses at a similar level to 2014/15.

S106 monies are available for capital schemes which meet the conditions of 
the individual planning agreements. There will be additional capital schemes 
brought into the Capital Programme which meet the S106 criteria and utilise 
this valuable resource. 

The Council has earmarked revenue reserves, which can be used for 
financing capital investment. These reserves will be used to fund projects of 

2Page 62



an ‘invest to save’ nature or to generate income for the authority. The Council 
has a Property Acquisition Reserve which can be used to acquire assets that 
will generate income for the General Fund.

A number of assets have currently been obtained under leasing 
arrangements. These will be reviewed and an appropriate method of financing 
selected to ensure that any replacement of leased assets is included in the 
capital programme and financed in the most cost effective way.

The Council will pro-actively seek out external grants and contributions to 
enhance the infrastructure and environment within the District.

Currently borrowing rates are relatively low and the Council may need to 
consider this form of funding to expand the Capital Programme.

The Council has sufficient resources to maintain its existing housing stock to 
decent homes plus standard and to invest in a programme of new build to 
meet social housing needs in its area. 

3.3       Disposals Policy

The Council’s Asset Management Plan details the approach to asset disposal. 
As a principle, the Council releases funding from under utilised assets. Asset 
Management is a key component in the Council’s efficiency strategy.

Generally the Council seeks to achieve ‘best consideration’ in disposing of 
assets, via a sale subject to competition. In certain circumstances it may be 
for less than best consideration, normally where the disposal will contribute to 
the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental well being of the whole or part of the area.

3.4 Capital Expenditure, Risks and Opportunities

The key issues facing the Council in relation to Capital expenditure are 
summarised in Appendix 3.

3.5      Framework for managing and monitoring performance
It is important, given the risks surrounding Capital Projects that the 
appropriate Governance framework is in place hence the following processes 
are in place:

 The Capital Strategy itself to be presented annually alongside the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy at Council;

 The overall Capital Programme and financing is subject to approval by 
the Cabinet and Council, with due diligence paid to the application of 
scarce capital resources;

 Progress on the Capital Programme and its financing will be reported to 
Cabinet on a quarterly basis;

3Page 63



 An option appraisal methodology for proposed new schemes is used 
which gives each bid a score, ensuring accordance with corporate 
objectives and best use of assets.

Appendix 1
CORE PRINCIPLES

Principle 1 – Managing the impact of investment decisions on our revenue budgets
We will do this by:

 Ensuring capital investment decisions do not place unnecessary additional 
pressure on Council Tax or Housing Rents

 Promoting capital investment which allows “invest to save” outcomes
Principle 2 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that funding supports 
the priorities of SHDC
We will do this by:

 Disposing of surplus assets and using the proceeds to reinvest in our 
priorities

 Developing effective working relationships with potential funders
 Listening to and supporting effective partnering arrangements
 Having clear policies for the consumption of our reserves

Principle 3 – Ensure we have effective pre and post project appraisal
We will do this by:

 Ensuring a system of competition exists for project approval
 Building into project appraisal recognition of environmental sustainability
 Fully considering project risk
 Carefully considering Value for Money and Efficiency of every project
 Ensuring all projects are supported by an affordable business plan
 Reviewing projects on completion taking account of any corporate learning 

opportunities
Principle 4 – Performance manage our capital programme
We will do this by:

 Integrating the capital programme into our performance management 
framework

 Clearly defining responsibility for the delivery of the capital programme and 
ensuring that there are sufficient resources to deliver projects

 Ensure that projects clearly defined outputs and benefits and that these 
outputs and benefits are also performance managed    

 Making sure our assets perform at an optimal level through effective ongoing 
asset management, consistent with levels of investment

4Page 64



Appendix 2
FUNDING SOURCES

Capital Resource Implications with regards to future funding
Capital Receipt The Council holds a limited number of valuable assets that 

could be transferred into cash.  The Council needs to balance 
cost of maintaining an asset with potential benefits arising 
from disposal, in light of delivering Corporate Objectives, and 
this is therefore politically sensitive.

Section 106 – 
Planning Obligations

The Council has powers under Section 106 to provide for 
infrastructure and facilities to support the local community 
alongside planning and development projects.  In some cases 
the Council is able to receive cash amounts in lieu of 
developers providing for these requirements directly.  

External grants and 
contributions

The partnership approach to service delivery is a core belief of 
the Council. Through its services, partnership working, 
supportive funding and innovation, the Council will seek to 
attract investment into the District.  The Council is also in 
receipt of Better Care funding to support its Disabled Facility 
Grant programme and is heavily reliant upon this to help it 
deliver these mandatory grants for which there is a significant 
demand from its residents. 

Revenue 
Contributions

The Medium Term Financial Strategy and Plan, currently 
assumes an annual (and reducing) revenue contribution in 
support of General Fund capital expenditure. The affordability 
of any revenue contribution needs to be considered in context 
of balancing the General Fund budget. 

The 30 year HRA business plan indicates that annual revenue 
surpluses will be generated which will allow the current 
programme for major repairs to housing assets to be fully 
funded and provides the opportunity for further capital 
investment.

Balances and 
Reserves

SHDC holds both general and specific reserves, earmarked to 
support specific service areas. The value of reserves available 
to support capital expenditure is limited and set to reduce in 
the coming years.

The HRA business plan shows that after funding the capital 
programme, significant balances will accrue. These will 
generate investment income for the HRA. Future investment 
plans may draw on these balances and the business plan will 
need to reflect the impact on the revenue account. This 
includes the Major Repairs Reserve

5Page 65



Borrowing The Council currently holds £67.456m of Long Term HRA 
debt following the introduction of the HRA Self-Financing 
scheme in 2012. The new system also enables the Council to 
borrow an additional £4.4m to finance capital schemes or 
repay debt at some point in the future.

As non borrowing capital resources diminish, if it is to maintain 
a General Fund capital programme, the Council will need to 
resort to borrowing. Current projections expect this to 
commence during 2014-15 to support the replacement of the 
refuse fleet.

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy includes a 
borrowing strategy and demonstrates the affordability and 
sustainability of any borrowing on the Medium Term Financial 
Plan, through the application of the Prudential Code. 

The Council will ensure its Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) policy reflects the costs of borrowing included in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

6Page 66



Appendix 3

CAPITAL PROGRAMME ISSUES

Area Issue
Asset 
Management 
Strategy

The Council’s Asset Management Strategy supports its 
Capital Strategy. Annual reviews of assets aligned to the 
Strategy may identify surplus assets, which may in turn 
generate capital receipts for future capital investment. 
Expenditure pressures are similarly identified where assets 
need replacing or enhancing.
The HRA Asset Management Strategy has been developed to 
complement the HRA Business Plan by formalising the 
Council’s approach to asset management in respect of its 
housing stock.

Risk Management Each significant capital project will have its own risk log, 
including political, economic, legal and organisational as well 
as financial risks, which are recorded and managed 
throughout the life of the project.
Monitoring and control of exempt input tax is essential for the 
council. Where exempt input tax exceeds the 5% de minimus 
limit the whole amount is irrecoverable and will represent an 
additional cost to the council.  Each capital investment will be 
closely reviewed to assess its VAT implications.

Sustainability and 
Carbon & Waste 
Reduction

A Sustainability Appraisal has been developed from the Local 
Development Framework. Key capital programmes will be 
evaluated against sustainability objectives.
Where appropriate, consideration has been made in respect 
of carbon and waste reduction. This includes consideration of 
energy use, transport and fuel use, water use, production and 
disposal. The installation of solar panel at the Priory Road 
offices is an example of investment that will generate income 
to offset our carbon footprint over the next 25 years.

Procurement The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in 
accordance with the Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for 
money, legality and sustainability at all times.  Contract 
standing orders and rules governing the disposal or write off 
of assets are contained in the Constitution which is 
periodically reviewed

Housing There is increasing pressure with regards to the Council’s 
statutory obligation concerning Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs). In recent years the Council has supplemented 
government funding with contributions from its own resources 
in order to maintain a manageable waiting list for these grants. 
The sustainability of this needs review in light of the Medium 

7Page 67



Term Financial Plan and the change in funding source to the 
Better Care Fund. 
Investment in the adaptation of its own Council Housing stock 
will also increase as part of the HRA business plan.
A number of grants and loans are available to home owners 
and tenants in South Holland to continue investment in the 
quality and energy efficiency of the district’s housing stock. 
Although currently supported from past receipts of external 
funding, the affordability of supporting these programmes over 
the longer term needs careful review.
The Council has established South Holland Homes (a Local 
Housing Company) to develop affordable homes. The 
company’s future business plans will look to innovative 
approach to exploit and maximise resources available to it to 
deliver its aims. The 

Partnership 
working

The integration of our capital strategy with those who we seek 
to work with will be necessary to deliver the shared visions we 
hold.  Given the opportunities of the Localism Act and working 
with local communities and the voluntary sector, looking at 
joint asset use will be increasingly important. The 
arrangements with Compass Point Business Services and 
Breckland District Council, as well as the lease of Council 
Offices to several outside bodies are good examples of this. 
The Council will actively seek opportunities to transfer 
community assets to local groups or parish councils.

Invest to save 
schemes and VFM

Whilst there are revenue implications for investing in capital 
schemes, the Council is keen to invest in areas that result in 
long-term revenue savings and ‘invest to save’ schemes. The 
significant resources applied to capital expenditure require the 
adopted principles of value for money (VFM) to be at the heart 
of our capital strategy and returns on investment are one 
aspect of VFM.

8Page 68



APPENDIX G

Treasury Management Strategy Statement

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy

South Holland District Council

2015/16

Page 69



INDEX

1 INTRODUCTION 3

1.1 Background 3
1.2 Reporting requirements 3
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2015/16 4
1.4 Training 5
1.5 Treasury management consultants 5

2 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2015/16 – 2017/18 5

2.1 Capital expenditure 5
2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing

Requirement) 6
2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 7
2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 8
2.5 Affordability prudential indicators 8
2.6 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 8
2.7 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on

council tax 9
2.8 Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment

decisions on housing rent levels 9
2.9 HRA ratios 9

3 BORROWING 10

3.1 Current portfolio position 10
3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 11
3.3 Prospects for interest rates 12
3.4 Borrowing strategy 14
3.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 15
3.6 Debt rescheduling 16
3.7 Municipal Bonds Agency 16

4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 17

4.1 Introduction – changes to credit rating methodology 17
4.2 Investment policy 17
4.3 Creditworthiness policy 19
4.4 Country limits 20
4.5 Investment strategy 20
4.6 Investment risk benchmarking 21
4.7 End of year investment report 21

5 APPENDICES 22

1 Interest Rate Forecasts 2014 – 2018 23
2 Economic Background 24
3 Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and

Counterparty Risk Management 28
4 Approved Countries for Investments 32
5 Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 33
6 The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 34

2

Page 70



1.  Introduction

1.1 Background

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that 
the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of longer 
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses.  On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured 
to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. ”

The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Compass Point Business 
Services (East Coast) Ltd (CPBS) on behalf of the Council. CPBS is 
responsible for:

 Production of the annual treasury management strategy 
 Production of regular treasury management policy reports
 Production of treasury management practices
 Production of budget and budget variations relating to the treasury 

management function
 Production of management information reports
 Provision of adequate treasury management resources and skills, and 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function

 Arrangement of the appointment of external service providers.

1.2 Reporting requirements

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals.  

3

Page 71



Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) - 
The first, and most important report covers:

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators);
 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time);
 the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings 

are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed).

A Mid Year Treasury Management Report – This will update members with 
the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as 
necessary, and whether any policies require revision.

An Annual Treasury Report – This provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to 
the estimates within the strategy.

Scrutiny
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Governance and 
Audit Committee.

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2015/16

The strategy for 2015/16 covers two main areas:

Capital Issues
 the capital plans and the prudential indicators;
 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury Management Issues
 the current treasury position;
 treasury indicators which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the 

Council;
 prospects for interest rates;
 the borrowing strategy;
 policy on borrowing in advance of need;
 debt rescheduling;
 the investment strategy;
 creditworthiness policy; and
 policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, the Communities and Local Government (CLG) MRP 
Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the CLG Investment 
Guidance.

4

Page 72



1.4 Training

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  
Training is arranged as required.
  
The training needs of CPBS treasury management officers are periodically 
reviewed. 

1.5 Treasury management consultants

CPBS uses Capita Asset Services as external treasury management advisors for 
the Council.

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Council at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon external service providers. 

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented, and subjected to regular review. 

2. The Capital Prudential Indicators 2015/16 – 2017/18
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected 
in prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans.

2.1 Capital expenditure

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle.  Members approve capital expenditure forecasts as part of the annual 
Budget report.

Capital 
Expenditure
£’000’s

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Latest 

Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

General Fund 1,337 3,300 2,126 505 767

HRA 5,396 5,877 7,256 7,591 7,739

Total 6,733 9,177 9,382 8,096 8,506

5

Page 73



The table below summarises the capital expenditure plans and how these 
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of 
resources results in a funding need (borrowing). 

Capital Expenditure
£’000’s

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Latest

Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

General Fund 1,337 3,300 2,126 505 767
HRA 5,396 5,877 7,256 7,591 7,739
Total Spend 6,733 9,177 9,382 8,096 8,506
Financed by:
Capital receipts 272 220 550 154 299
Capital grants & 
contributions 839 1,137 1,001 451 451
Direct Revenue 
Funding /Use of 
Reserves 5,622 6,279 7,831 7,491 7,626
Total Financing 6,733 7,636 9,382 8,096 8,376
Net financing need 
for the year 0 1,541 0 0 130

Other long term liabilities - the above financing need excludes other long term 
liabilities, such as Private Financing Initiative (PFI) and leasing arrangements 
which already include borrowing instruments.  

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing 
need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid 
for, will increase the CFR. 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the MRP is a statutory annual 
revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each 
assets life.
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s 
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and 
so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The 
Council currently has £254k of such schemes within the CFR.
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the CFR 
projections, as follows:

6

Page 74



£’000’s 2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Latest 

Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Capital Financing Requirement
CFR - non HRA 740 2,237 1,983 1,733 1,601
CFR - HRA 69,650 69,411 69,165 68,919 68,676
Total CFR 70,390 71,648 71,148 70,652 70,277
Movement in CFR (514) 1,258 (500) (496) (375)
Movement in CFR represented by
Net financing need for 
the year (above) - 1,541 - - 130
Less MRP and other 
financing movements (514) (283) (500) (496) (505)
Movement in CFR (514) 1,258 (500) (496) (375)

Note the MRP includes finance lease annual principal payments.

2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 
Fund capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the 
minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake 
additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).  
CLG Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are 
provided to councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  
The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement:
For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will 
be Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:

 Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined 
in former CLG regulations (option 1) 

These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need 
(CFR) each year.
From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance 
leases) the MRP policy will be:

 Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of 
the assets, in accordance with the regulations (this option must be 
applied for any expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation 
Direction) (option 3)

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over 
approximately the asset’s life. 
There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision 
but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although 
there are transitional arrangements in place).
Repayments included in finance leases are applied as MRP. 

7

Page 75



2.4 Core funds and expected investment balances
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget 
will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below 
are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day 
to day cash flow balances.

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be 
higher mid year.

2.5 Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing 
prudential indicators, but within this framework, prudential indicators are 
required to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans. These 
provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances.  As part of the formal governance process, the 
Council approves the following indicators:

2.6 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream.
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other 
long-term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream.

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Non-HRA 0.95% -0.64% 0.95% -0.02% -0.86%
HRA 25.08% 23.99% 21.51% 21.19% 20.97%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 
proposals in this budget report.

8

Year End Resources
£’000’s

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

General Fund Balance 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034          2,034
HRA Working Balance 6,835 8,198 8,051 8,051 8,051
Earmarked Reserves 8,083 8,352 7,948 9,129 10,404
Capital Grants Unapplied 1,612 549 0 0 0
Capital receipts 1,410 1,387 961 931 756
Receipts in Advance 633 0 0 0 0
Total core funds 20,607 20,520 18,994 20,145 21,245
Working capital* 6 6 6 6 6
Under borrowing (2,901) (4,442) (4,442) (4,442) (4,572)
Expected investments 17,712 16,084 14,558 15,709 16,679

Page 76



2.7 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the band D 
council tax.

This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to 
the three year capital programme recommended in this budget report compared 
to the Council’s existing approved commitments and current plans.  The 
assumptions are based on the budget, but will invariably include some estimates, 
such as the level of Government support, which are not published over a three 
year period.

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Council tax - band D £0.09 £-4.09 £4.45 £8.36 £8.42

2.8 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on housing rent 
levels.

Similar to the council tax calculation, this indicator identifies the trend in the cost of 
proposed changes in the housing capital programme recommended in this budget 
report compared to the Council’s existing commitments and current plans, 
expressed as a discrete impact on weekly rent levels.  

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Weekly housing rent 
levels £0.06 £0.07 £0.10 £0.21 £0.30

This indicator shows the revenue impact on any newly proposed changes, 
although any discrete impact will be constrained by rent controls.  

2.9 HRA Ratios

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

HRA debt £m 67 67 67 67 67
HRA revenues £m 16 16 18 18 18
Ratio of debt to 
revenues (%) 419 419 372 372 372

2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

HRA debt £m 67 67 67 67 67
Number of HRA 
dwellings 3,888 3,904 3,905 3,908 3,911
Debt per dwelling  (£) 17,232 17,162 17,157 17,144 17,131

9

Page 77



3.   Borrowing

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the the relevant professional 
codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  This will 
involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant 
treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the 
annual investment strategy.

3.1 Current portfolio position
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2014, with forward 
projections are  summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the 
treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing. 

£’000’s 2013/14
Actual

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

External Debt
Debt at 1 April 67,750 67,493 67,469 67,456 67,456
Expected change in Debt (7) (3) 0 0 0
Other long-term liabilities 
(OLTL) 0 0 0 0 0
Expected change in OLTL (250) (21) (13) 0 0
Actual gross debt at 31 
March 

67,493 67,469 67,456 67,456 67,456

The Capital Financing 
Requirement

70,390     71,648 71,148 70,652 70,277

Under / (over) borrowing 2,897 4,179 3,692 3,196 2,821

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to 
ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One 
of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except 
in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2015/16 and the following two financial years. 
This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but 
ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.     

The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in this budget report.

10

Page 78



3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity
The Operational Boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external debt is 
not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure 
to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.
Operational boundary 
£’000’s

2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Debt 71,456 86,456 86,456 86,456
Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Total 72,456 87,456 87,456 87,456

The Authorised Limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or 
revised by the full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while 
not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the 
longer term.  

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control 
either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, 
although this power has never been exercised.

2. As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 
following indicators, as shown below:

Authorised limit £’000’s 2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Debt 74,456 89,456 89,456 89,456
Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Total 75,456 90,456 90,456 90,456

Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR through the HRA 
self-financing regime.  This limit is currently:

HRA Debt Limit £’000 2014/15
Estimate

2015/16
Estimate

2016/17
Estimate

2017/18
Estimate

Total 74,701 74,701 74,701 74,701

11

Page 79



3.3. Prospects for interest rates

Capita Asset Services has been appointed as the Council’s treasury advisor 
and part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest 
rates.  Appendix 1 draws together a number of current City forecasts for short 
term (Bank Rate) and longer fixed interest rates.  The following table gives the 
Capita Asset Services’ central view. 

Annual 
Average %

Bank Rate
%

PWLB Borrowing Rates%
(including certainty rate adjustment)

5 year 25 year 50 year
Mar 2015 0.50 2.20 3.40 3.40
Jun 2015 0.50 2.20 3.50 3.50
Sep 2015 0.50 2.30 3.70 3.70
Dec 2015 0.75 2.50 3.80 3.80
Mar 2016 0.75 2.60 4.00 4.00
Jun 2016 1.00 2.80 4.20 4.20
Sep 2016 1.00 2.90 4.30 4.30
Dec 2016 1.25 3.00 4.40 4.40
Mar 2017 1.25 3.20 4.50 4.50
Jun 2017 1.50 3.30 4.60 4.60
Sep 2017 1.75 3.40 4.70 4.70
Dec 2017 1.75 3.50 4.70 4.70
Mar 2018 2.00 3.60 4.80 4.80

UK GDP growth surged during 2013 and the first half of 2014.  Since then it 
appears to have subsided somewhat but still remains strong by UK standards and 
is expected to continue likewise into 2015 and 2016. There needs to be a 
significant rebalancing of the economy away from consumer spending to 
manufacturing, business investment and exporting in order for this recovery to 
become more firmly established. One drag on the economy has been that wage 
inflation has only recently started to exceed CPI inflation, so enabling disposable 
income and living standards to start improving. The plunge in the price of oil 
brought CPI inflation down to a low of 1.0% in November, the lowest rate since 
September 2002.  Inflation is expected to stay around or below 1.0% for the best 
part of a year; this will help improve consumer disposable income and so 
underpin economic growth during 2015.  However, labour productivity needs to 
improve substantially  to enable wage rates to increase and further support 
consumer disposable income and economic growth. In addition, the encouraging 
rate at which unemployment has been falling must eventually feed through into 
pressure for wage increases, though current views on the amount of hidden slack 
in the labour market probably means that this is unlikely to happen early in 2015.
The US, the biggest world economy, has generated stunning growth rates of 
4.6% (annualised) in Q2 2014 and 5.0% in Q3.  This is hugely promising for the 
outlook for strong growth going forwards and it very much looks as if the US is 
now firmly on the path of full recovery from the financial crisis of 2008.  
Consequently, it is now confidently expected that the US will be the first major 
western economy to start on central rate increases by mid 2015.  

12

Page 80



The current economic outlook and structure of market interest rates and 
government debt yields have several key treasury management implications:

 Greece: the general election on 25 January 2015 is likely to bring a 
political party to power which is anti EU and anti austerity.  However, if 
this eventually results in Greece leaving the Euro, it is unlikely that this 
will directly destabilise the Eurozone as the EU has put in place 
adequate firewalls to contain the immediate fallout to just Greece.  
However, the indirect effects of the likely strenthening of anti EU and anti 
austerity political parties throughout the EU is much more difficult to 
quantify; 

 As for the Eurozone in general, concerns in respect of a major crisis 
subsided considerably in 2013.  However, the downturn in growth and 
inflation during the second half of 2014, and worries over the Ukraine 
situation, Middle East and Ebola, have led to a resurgence of those 
concerns as risks increase that it could be heading into deflation and 
prolonged very weak growth.  Sovereign debt difficulties have not gone 
away and major concerns could return in respect of individual countries 
that do not dynamically address fundamental issues of low growth, 
international uncompetitiveness and the need for overdue reforms of the 
economy (as Ireland has done).  It is, therefore, possible over the next 
few years that levels of government debt to GDP ratios could continue to 
rise to levels that could result in a loss of investor confidence in the 
financial viability of such countries.  Counterparty risks therefore remain 
elevated.  This continues to suggest the use of higher quality 
counterparties for shorter time periods;

 Investment returns are likely to remain relatively low during 2015/16 and 
beyond;

 Borrowing interest rates have been volatile during 2014 as alternating 
bouts of good and bad news  have promoted optimism, and then 
pessimism, in financial markets.  The closing weeks of 2014 saw gilt 
yields dip to historically remarkably low levels after inflation plunged, a 
flight to quality from equities (especially in the oil sector), and from the 
debt and equities of oil producing emerging market countries, and an 
increase in the likelihood that the ECB will commence quantitative easing 
(purchase of EZ government debt) in early 2015.  The policy of avoiding 
new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well 
over the last few years.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to 
avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in later times, when authorities will 
not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance new capital expenditure 
and/or to refinance maturing debt;

 There will remain a cost of carry to any new borrowing which causes 
an increase in investments as this will incur a revenue loss between 
borrowing costs and investment returns.

13

Page 81



3.4  Borrowing strategy 

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been 
fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances 
and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent 
as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2015/16 treasury operations.  The Section 151 Officer will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances:

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and 
short term rates, e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation, then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term borrowing will be considered.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
long and short term rates than that currently forecast perhaps arising 
from a greater than expected increase in the anticipated rate to US 
tapering of asset purchases, or in world economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised 
with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest 
rates are still lower than they will be in the next few years.

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next 
available opportunity.

Treasury management limits on activity
There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these are 
to restrain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby 
managing risk and reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The indicators are:

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a 
maximum limit for variable interest rates based upon the debt position 
net of investments;

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the 
previous indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates;

 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce 
the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for 
refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.  

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 
indicators, as follows:

14

Page 82



£,000’s 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Interest rate exposures

Upper Upper Upper
Limits on fixed interest 
rates based on net debt 90,456 90,456 90,456

Limits on variable 
interest rates based on 
net debt

15,000 15,000 15,000

Limits on fixed interest 
rates:

 Debt only
 Investments only

90,456
(20,000)

90,456
(20,000)

 90,456
(20,000)

Limits on variable 
interest rates

 Debt only
 Investments only

15,000
(15,000)

  15,000
(15,000)

  15,000
(15,000)

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2015/16
Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 100%
12 months to 2 years 0% 100%
2 years to 5 years 0% 100%
5 years to 10 years 0% 100%
10 years to 20 years 0% 100%
20 years to 30 years 0% 100%
30 years to 40 years 0% 100%
40 years to 50 years 0% 100%
Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2015/16

Lower Upper
Under 12 months 0% 20%
12 months to 2 years 0% 20%
2 years to 5 years 0% 20%
5 years to 10 years 0% 20%
10 years to 20 years 0% 20%
20 years to 30 years 0% 20%
30 years to 40 years 0% 20%
40 years to 50 years 0% 20%

3.5  Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs, purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow 
in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds. 

15

Page 83



Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

3.6  Debt Rescheduling

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by 
switching from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will 
need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of 
the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred). 

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
 enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 

balance of volatility).

Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for 
making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely 
as short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on 
current debt.  

All rescheduling will be reported to the Cabinet , at the earliest meeting following 
its action.

3.7  Municipal Bonds Agency

It is likely that the Municipal Bond Agency, currently in the process of being set up, 
will be offering loans to local authorities in the near future.  It is also hoped that the 
borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB).  This Authority intends to make use of this new source of borrowing as 
and when appropriate.

16

Page 84



4  Annual Investment Strategy

4.1 Introduction: changes to credit rating methodology

The main rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) have, through 
much of the financial crisis, provided some institutions with a ratings “uplift” due to 
implied levels of sovereign support. More recently, in response to the evolving 
regulatory regime, the agencies have indicated they may remove these “uplifts”. 
This process may commence during 2014/15 and/or 2015/16. The actual timing 
of the changes is still subject to discussion, but this does mean immediate 
changes to the credit methodology are required.
It is important to stress that the rating agency changes do not reflect any changes 
in the underlying status of the institution or credit environment, merely the implied 
level of sovereign support that has been built into ratings through the financial 
crisis. The eventual removal of implied sovereign support will only take place 
when the regulatory and economic environments have ensured that financial 
institutions are much stronger and less prone to failure in a financial crisis.
Both Fitch and Moody’s provide “standalone” credit ratings for financial 
institutions. For Fitch, it is the Viability Rating, while Moody’s has the Financial 
Strength Rating. Due to the future removal of sovereign support from institution 
assessments, both agencies have suggested going forward that these will be in 
line with their respective Long Term ratings. As such, there is no point monitoring 
both Long Term and these “standalone” ratings. 
Furthermore, Fitch has already begun assessing its Support ratings, with a clear 
expectation that these will be lowered to 5, which is defined as “A bank for which 
there is a possibility of external support, but it cannot be relied upon.” With all 
institutions likely to drop to these levels, there is little to no differentiation to be had 
by assessing Support ratings. 
As a result of these rating agency changes, the credit element of our future 
methodology will focus solely on the Short and Long Term ratings of an institution. 
Rating Watch and Outlook information will continue to be assessed where it 
relates to these categories. This is the same process for Standard & Poor’s that 
we have always taken, but a change to the use of Fitch and Moody’s ratings. 
Furthermore, we will continue to utilise CDS prices as an overlay to ratings in our 
new methodology.

4.2 Investment policy

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The Council’s investment priorities will be security 
first, liquidity second, then return.

In accordance with the above guidance from CIPFA , and in order to minimise the 
risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in 
order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables 
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.

17

Page 85



Continuing regulatory changes in the banking sector are designed to see greater 
stability, lower risk and the removal of expectations of Government financial 
support should an institution fail.  This withdrawal of implied sovereign support is 
anticipated to have an effect on ratings applied to institutions.  This will result in 
the key ratings used to monitor counterparties being the Short Term and Long 
Term ratings only.  Viability, Financial Strength and Support Ratings previously 
applied will effectively become redundant.  This change does not reflect 
deterioration in the credit environment but rather a change of method in response 
to regulatory changes.

The Council’s funds are managed by CPBS with reference to a detailed cash flow 
forecast on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to govern the 
movement of funds within specific limits. 

Further, officers recognise that ratings should not be the sole determinant of the 
quality of an institution and that it is important to contiunally assess and monitor 
the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The 
assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To this end the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a 
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” (CDS) and overlay that 
information on top of the credit ratings. This is fully integrated into the credit 
methodology provided by the advisors, Capita Asset Services  in producing its 
colour codings which show the varying degrees of suggested creditworthiness.

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the 
most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment 
counterparties.

The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation 
of risk.

Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 
Appendix 3 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories. The 
maximum total investments to any individual financial institution or its parent 
group is £5m. There is also a combined limit of £10m for investments with part-
nationalised banks.

18

Page 86



4.3 Creditworthiness policy 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset 
Services.  This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utlilising 
credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with 
the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 

countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are 
used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.   The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 Yellow 5 years
 Dark Pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds with a credit score 

of 1.25 
 Light Pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds with a credit score 

of 1.5
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK

Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days 
 No colour not to be used 

The Capita Asset Services creditworthiness service uses a wider array of 
information than just primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, 
does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term 
rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a  Long Term rating of A-.  There may be 
occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally 
lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances consideration 
will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market 
information, to support their use.

19

Page 87



All credit ratings will be monitored daily. CPBS is alerted to changes to ratings of 
all three agencies through its use of the Capita Asset Services creditworthiness 
service. 

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately.

 in addition to the use of credit ratings CPBS will be advised of information 
in movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other 
market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this 
Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that supporting 
government.

4.4 Country limits

The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the 
United Kingdom or countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA+ from 
Fitch. The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this 
report are shown in Appendix 4.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

4.5 Investment Strategy

In-house funds.  Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates 
for investments up to 12 months).   

Investment returns expectations.  Bank Rate is forecast to remain unchanged 
at  0.5% before starting to rise from quarter 4 of 2015. Bank Rate forecasts for 
financial year ends (March) are: 

 2015/ 2016  0.75%
 2016/ 2017  1.25%
 2017/ 2018  2.00%

There are downside risks to these forecasts (i.e. start of increases in Bank Rate 
occurs later) if economic growth weakens.  However, should the pace of growth 
quicken, there could be an upside risk.

20

Page 88



The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to 100 days during each financial year for the next four 
years are as follows: 

2015/16 0.60%
2016/17 1.25%
2017/18 1.75%

  2018/19 2.25%

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 364 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end.

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 
indicator and limit, as follows:

Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days
£’000’s 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Principal sums invested 
> 364 days

£m
2,000

£m
2,000

£m
2,000

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business 
reserve instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated 
deposits (overnight to three months) in order to benefit from the compounding of 
interest.  

4.6 Investment Risk Benchmarking
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend position, and amend the 
operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change.  

4.7   End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report. 

21

Page 89



5   APPENDICES

1. Interest rate forecasts

2. Economic background

3. Treasury Management Practice 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management

4. Approved countries for investments

5. Treasury management scheme of delegation

6. The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer

22

Page 90



APPENDIX 1 - Interest Rate Forecast 2014 - 2018 as at 5 January 2015

PWLB rates and forecast shown below take account of the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012.

Capita Asset Services Interest  Rate View

Mar-15 Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18

Bank Rate View 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75% 1.75% 2.00%

3 Month LIBID 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.80% 0.90% 1.10% 1.10% 1.30% 1.40% 1.50% 1.80% 1.90% 2.10%

6 Month LIBID 0.70% 0.70% 0.80% 1.00% 1.10% 1.20% 1.30% 1.50% 1.60% 1.70% 2.00% 2.10% 2.30%

12 Month LIBID 0.90% 1.00% 1.10% 1.30% 1.40% 1.50% 1.60% 1.80% 1.90% 2.00% 2.30% 2.40% 2.60%

5yr PWLB Rate 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.50% 2.60% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60%

10yr PWLB Rate 2.80% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 4.00% 4.10% 4.20%

25yr PWLB Rate 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.20% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% 4.70% 4.80%

50yr PWLB Rate 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.20% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% 4.70% 4.80%

Bank Rate

Capita Asset Services 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50% 1.75% 1.75% 2.00%

Capital Economics 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate

Capita Asset Services 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.50% 2.60% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60%

Capital Economics 2.20% 2.50% 2.70% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% - - - - -

10yr PWLB Rate

Capita Asset Services 2.80% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 4.00% 4.10% 4.20%

Capital Economics 2.80% 3.05% 3.30% 3.55% 3.60% 3.65% 3.70% 3.80% - - - - -

25yr PWLB Rate

Capita Asset Services 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.20% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% 4.70% 4.80%

Capital Economics 3.25% 3.45% 3.65% 3.85% 3.95% 4.05% 4.15% 4.25% - - - - -

50yr PWLB Rate

Capita Asset Services 3.40% 3.50% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.20% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% 4.70% 4.80%

Capital Economics 3.30% 3.50% 3.70% 3.90% 4.00% 4.10% 4.20% 4.30% - - - - -
Please note – The current PWLB rates and forecast shown above have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st 

November 2012 

P
age 91



APPENDIX 2 - Economic Background

UK.  After strong UK GDP growth in 2013 at an annual rate of 2.7%, and then in 
2014 0.7% in Q1, 0.9% in Q2 2014 (annual rate 3.2% in Q2), Q3 has seen growth 
fall back to 0.7% in the quarter and to an annual rate of 2.6%.  It therefore 
appears that growth has eased since the surge in the first half of 2014 leading to a 
downward revision of forecasts for 2015 and 2016, albeit that growth will still 
remain strong by UK standards.  For this recovery to become more balanced and 
sustainable in the longer term, the recovery needs to move away from 
dependence on consumer expenditure and the housing market to exporting, and 
particularly of manufactured goods, both of which need to substantially improve 
on their recent lacklustre performance.  This overall strong growth has resulted in 
unemployment falling much faster than expected. The MPC is now focusing on 
how quickly slack in the economy is being used up. It is also particularly 
concerned that the squeeze on the disposable incomes of consumers should be 
reversed by wage inflation rising back significantly above the level of inflation in 
order to ensure that the recovery will be sustainable.  There also needs to be a 
major improvement in labour productivity, which has languished at dismal levels 
since 2008, to support increases in pay rates.  Unemployment is expected to keep 
on its downward trend and this is likely to eventually feed through into a return to 
significant increases in wage growth at some point during the next three years.  
However, just how much those future increases in pay rates will counteract the 
depressive effect of increases in Bank Rate on consumer confidence, the rate of 
growth in consumer expenditure and the buoyancy of the housing market, are 
areas that will need to be kept under regular review.

Also encouraging has been the sharp fall in inflation (CPI), reaching 1.0% in 
November 2014, the lowest rate since September 2002.  Forward indications are 
that inflation is likely to remain around or under 1% for the best part of a year.  
The return to strong growth has helped lower forecasts for the increase in 
Government debt over the last year but monthly public sector deficit figures during 
2014 have disappointed until November.  The autumn statement, therefore, had 
to revise the speed with which the deficit is forecast to be eliminated.

Eurozone (EZ).  The Eurozone is facing an increasing threat from weak or 
negative growth and from deflation.  In November 2014, the inflation rate fell 
further, to reach a low of 0.3%.  However, this is an average for all EZ countries 
and includes some countries with negative rates of inflation.  Accordingly, the 
ECB took some rather limited action in June and September 2014 to loosen 
monetary policy in order to promote growth.  It now appears likely that the ECB 
will embark on full quantitative easing (purchase of EZ country sovereign debt) in 
early 2015. 
Concern in financial markets for the Eurozone subsided considerably after the 
prolonged crisis during 2011-2013.  However, sovereign debt difficulties have not 
gone away and major issues could return in respect of any countries that do not 
dynamically address fundamental issues of low growth, international 
uncompetitiveness and the need for overdue reforms of the economy, (as Ireland 
has done).  It is, therefore, possible over the next few years that levels of 
government debt to GDP ratios could continue to rise for some countries. This 
could mean that sovereign debt concerns have not disappeared but, rather, have 

Page 92



only been postponed. The ECB’s pledge in 2012 to buy unlimited amounts of 
bonds of countries which ask for a bailout has provided heavily indebted countries 
with a strong defence against market forces.  This has bought them time to make 
progress with their economies to return to growth or to reduce the degree of 
recession.  However, debt to GDP ratios (2013 figures) of Greece 180%, Italy 
133%, Portugal 129%, Ireland 124% and Cyprus 112%, remain a cause of 
concern, especially as some of these countries are experiencing continuing rates 
of increase in debt in excess of their rate of economic growth i.e. these debt ratios 
are likely to continue to deteriorate.  Any sharp downturn in economic growth 
would make these countries particularly vulnerable to a new bout of sovereign 
debt crisis.  It should also be noted that Italy has the third biggest debt mountain in 
the world behind Japan and the US.  
Greece:  the general election due to take place on 25 January 2015 is likely to 
bring a political party to power which is anti EU and anti austerity.  However, if this 
eventually results in Greece leaving the Euro, it is unlikely that this will directly 
destabilise the Eurozone as the EU has put in place adequate firewalls to contain 
the immediate fallout to just Greece.  However, the indirect effects of the likely 
strenthening of anti EU and anti austerity political parties throughout the EU is 
much more difficult to quantify.  There are particular concerns as to whether 
democratically elected governments will lose the support of electorates suffering 
under EZ imposed austerity programmes, especially in countries which have high 
unemployment rates.  There are also major concerns as to whether the 
governments of France and Italy will effectively implement austerity programmes 
and undertake overdue reforms to improve national competitiveness. These 
countries already have political parties with major electoral support for anti EU 
and anti austerity policies.  Any loss of market confidence in either of the two 
largest Eurozone economies after Germany would present a huge challenge to 
the resources of the ECB to defend their debt.
USA.  The U.S. Federal Reserve ended its monthly asset purchases in October 
2014. GDP growth rates (annualised) for Q2 and Q3 of 4.6% and 5.0% have 
been stunning and hold great promise for strong growth going forward.  It is 
therefore confidently forecast that the first increase in the Fed. rate will occur by 
the middle of 2015.   
China.  Government action in 2014 to stimulate the economy appeared to be 
putting the target of 7.5% growth within achievable reach but recent data has 
indicated a marginally lower outturn for 2014, which would be the lowest rate of 
growth for many years. There are also concerns that the Chinese leadership has 
only started to address an unbalanced economy which is heavily over dependent 
on new investment expenditure, and for a potential bubble in the property sector 
to burst, as it did in Japan in the 1990s, with its consequent impact on the financial 
health of the banking sector. There are also concerns around the potential size, 
and dubious creditworthiness, of some bank lending to local government 
organisations and major corporates. This primarily occurred during the 
government promoted expansion of credit, which was aimed at protecting the 
overall rate of growth in the economy after the Lehmans crisis.
Japan.   Japan is causing considerable concern as the increase in sales tax in 
April 2014 has suppressed consumer expenditure and growth to the extent that it 

25

Page 93



has slipped back into recession in Q2 and Q3.  The Japanese government 
already has the highest debt to GDP ratio in the world.

CAPITA ASSET SERVICES FORWARD VIEW 

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing 
on the UK. Our Bank Rate forecasts, (and also MPC decisions), will be liable to 
further amendment depending on how economic data transpires over 2015. 
Forecasts for average earnings beyond the three year time horizon will be heavily 
dependent on economic and political developments. Major volatility in bond yields 
is likely to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow between 
favouring more risky assets i.e. equities, or the safe haven of bonds. 

The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, due to the 
high volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and of bond issuance in other major 
western countries.  Increasing investor confidence in eventual world economic 
recovery is also likely to compound this effect as recovery will encourage 
investors to switch from bonds to equities.  

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is currently evenly 
balanced. Only time will tell just how long this current period of strong economic 
growth will last; it also remains exposed to vulnerabilities in a number of key 
areas.
The interest rate forecasts in this report are based on an initial assumption that 
there will not be a major resurgence of the EZ debt crisis.  There is an increased 
risk that Greece could end up leaving the Euro but if this happens, the EZ now 
has sufficient fire walls in place that a Greek exit would have little immediate direct 
impact on the rest of the EZ and the Euro.  It is therefore expected that there will 
be an overall managed, albeit painful and tortuous, resolution of any EZ debt 
crisis that may occur where EZ institutions and governments eventually do what is 
necessary - but only when all else has been tried and failed. Under this assumed 
scenario, growth within the EZ will be weak at best for the next couple of years 
with some EZ countries experiencing low or negative growth, which will, over that 
time period, see an increase in total government debt to GDP ratios.  There is a 
significant danger that these ratios could rise to the point where markets lose 
confidence in the financial viability of one, or more, countries, especially if growth 
disappoints and / or efforts to reduce government deficits fail to deliver the 
necessary reductions. However, it is impossible to forecast whether any individual 
country will lose such confidence, or when, and so precipitate a sharp resurgence 
of the EZ debt crisis.  While the ECB has adequate resources to manage a debt 
crisis in a small EZ country, if one, or more, of the larger countries were to 
experience a major crisis of market confidence, this would present a serious 
challenge to the ECB and to EZ politicians.

 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include: 

 Geopolitical risks in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Asia, 
increasing safe haven flows. 

 UK strong economic growth is weaker than we currently anticipate. 

26

Page 94



 Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU, 
US and China. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis.

 Recapitalisation of European banks requiring more government 
financial support.

 Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and to 
combat the threat of deflation in western economies, especially the 
Eurozone and Japan.

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include: -

 An adverse reaction by financial markets to the result of the UK general 
election in May 2015 and the economic and debt management policies 
adopted by the new government

 ECB either failing to carry through on recent statements that it will soon 
start quantitative easing (purchase of government debt) or severely 
disappointing financial markets with embarking on only a token 
programme of minimal purchases which are unlikely to have much 
impact, if any, on stimulating growth in the EZ.  

 The commencement by the US Federal Reserve of increases in the 
central rate in 2015 causing a fundamental reassessment by investors 
of the relative risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities, leading to 
a sudden flight from bonds to equities.

 A surge in investor confidence that a return to robust world economic 
growth is imminent, causing a flow of funds out of bonds into equities.

 UK inflation returning to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU 
and US, causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 
yields.

27

Page 95



APPENDIX 3- Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and 
Counterparty Risk Management

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, 
with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality 
criteria where applicable.

 Minimum ‘High’ 
Credit Criteria Use

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility N/A In-house

Term deposits – local authorities  N/A In-house

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-house

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 
and building societies

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-house

Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating In-house
Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA In-house buy and 

hold

Money market funds AAA
In-house (£5m 
limit for cash flow 
purposes)

Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies 

If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period should 
not exceed one year in aggregate.  

N.B. buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year end and repurchase 
the following day in order to accommodate the requirements of the Accounting 
Code of Practice.

28

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use Max of total 

investments
Max. 
maturity 
period

UK  part nationalised 
banks

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house £10m 1 year

Banks part 
nationalised by AAA 
or AA+ sovereign 
rating countries – non 
UK

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-
house £5m 1 year

Page 96



Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ 
from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by 
this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue 
impact, which may arise from these differences, we will review the accounting 
implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not 
meet the Specified Investment criteria.  A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate in non-specified investments.

1. Maturities of ANY Period

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits

Sovereign rating  
of AAA or  AA+ 
and minimum 
colour of green on 
our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix

In-house 100% 1 year

UK Government Gilts UK sovereign 
rating

In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 2 year

Sovereign bond issues 
(other than the UK govt) AAA

In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 2 year

Bond issuance issued by a 
financial institution which is 
explicitly guaranteed by  
the UK Government  (eg 
National Rail) 

UK sovereign 
rating

In-house 
buy and 
hold

100% 2 year

Collateralised deposits 
(see note 1)

UK  Sovereign 
rating In-house 100% 2 year

29

Page 97



Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies 
(OEICs): -

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-specified 
investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

 1. Government Liquidity
     Funds

Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 years

 2. Enhanced Money 
Market Funds with a 
credit score of 1.25

Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 years

 3. Enhanced Money 
Market Funds with a 
credit score of 1.50

Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 years

4. Bond Funds
Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 years

 5. Gilt Funds
Long-term AAA
volatility rating 
MR1+

In-house 100% 5 years

Note 1. as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local 
authority LOBOs, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority.

2.  Maturities in excess of 1 year

Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use

Max %  of 
non-
specified 
investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

Term deposits – UK local 
authorities N/A In-

house 100% 5 year

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies 

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA+ and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-
house 100% 5 year

Certificates of deposit issued 
by banks and building 
societies 

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA or  AA+ and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix

In-
house 100% 5 year

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks AAA In-

house 100% 5 year

30

Page 98



Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 151 
Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are required to 
allow flexibility in the movement of funds if a particular issue or circumstance 
arises e.g. global banking crisis.

The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its parent 
group is £5m. 

31

Page 99



APPENDIX 4 - Approved countries for investments

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland
 Hong Kong
 Netherlands
 U.K.
 U.S.A.

32

Page 100



APPENDIX 5 - Treasury management scheme of delegation

(i) Full council
 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 

practices and activities
 approval of annual strategy.
 approval of / amendments to the council’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practices
 budget consideration and approval
 approval of the division of responsibilities as contained in the Financial 

Regulations

(ii) Cabinet and Governance & Audit Committee
 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 

recommendations to the responsible body.
 receiving and reviewing the annual strategy and making recommendations 

to the responsible body.
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations.

SCRUTINY AND MONITORING

Council delegates the scrutiny and monitoring of the Treasury Management 
function to the Governance and Audit Committee.  As a minimum they will receive 
a Mid Term Treasury report on investment issues and performance. Training will 
be made available for members of the Governance and Audit Committee to 
ensure they have the necessary skills to undertake this role. Recommendations 
will be reported to Cabinet.

The Governance and Audit Committee will also have access to professional and 
independent advice and support as required in order to undertake this role.

33

Page 101



APPENDIX 6 - The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer and 
deputy

The Section 151 Officer responsibilities are as follows:

 managing the Treasury Management function

 recommending treasury management policies and practice for 
approval, reviewing the same regularly and monitoring compliance

 Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills 
are maintained by CPBS

 Receiving and reviewing management information reports from 
CPBS

 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function

 Informing Elected members

 Submitting regular treasury management reports to Members
 Reviewing the treasury management strategy
 Maintaining an effective internal audit of treasury management and 

liaising with external audit.

Compass Point Business Services (CPBS) is responsible for the 
provision of:

 treasury management strategy statements and practices for approval 
 regular treasury management policy reports
 budget and budget variations
 management information reports
 adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective division 

of responsibilities within the treasury management function, and;
 arranging the appointment of external treasury management advisors. 

Where the use of particular instant access accounts, notice accounts and 
money market funds has been approved by the Section 151 Officer, CPBS 
treasury officers have delegated authority to withdraw and deposit funds within 
the agreed limits contained in this strategy.

34

Page 102



APPENDIX H 
FEES AND CHARGES - 2015-16 Estimates

Environmental Health

Activity Policy Proposal 
Licensing The fee will be set locally 

on  cost recovery for the 
service with the exception 
of the statutory set fees 
which are set by central 
government. The authority 
will have a duty to have 
regard to guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State 
which outlines the issues 
that should be considered 
by them when setting the 
fee and what activities the 
fee can and cannot be 
covered within the fee 
setting process.

Fees set to cover costs on fee 
recovery or are set by legislation

Food Safety/ Health and 
Safety Training

SHDC has the 
responsibility of educating 
the community on food, 
health & safety matters. 
Fees set to cover costs and 
take into account course 
demand and competitors 
fees

Fees set to cover costs.

Pollution Control Statutory fees are set
not to make a profit, but to 
ensure businesses are 
operating legally

Charges in line with policy

Food Safety Discretionary fees to cover 
costs. Voluntary 
surrender and export fees 
are statutory. Statutory fees 
are set not to make a profit, 
but to ensure businesses 
are operating legally

Charges in line with policy

Scrap Metal As per the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013.The fee 
will be set locally by each 
local authority on a cost 
recovery basis, but local 
authorities will have a duty 
to have regard to guidance 

Charges in line with policy

Page 103



issued by the Secretary of 
State which outlines the 
issues that should be 
considered by them when 
setting the fee and what 
activities the fee can cover

Micro Chipping Discretionary fee set to 
cover costs and encourage 
users of the new service 

Charges in line with policy. 

Environmental Services 

Activity Policy Proposal 
Cemetery Fees 
(Spalding Special 
Expenses)

Fees are reviewed annually 
and set by the Council, 
taking into account the 
sensitive nature of this 
service

No change for 2015-16.

Allotments (Spalding 
Special Expenses)

Charges to be in line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area

No change for 2015-16.

Provision of Markets Fees to be in-line with 
those charged in the 
neighbouring area

No change for 2015-16.

Car Parking Charges Service to breakeven over 
a 4 year period and make a 
contribution to the 
Replacement and 
Refurbishment Reserve

No change for 2015-16.

Bus Departure Charges Charges to bus operators 
only

Fee levels to remain at 29p per 
departure for 2015/16.

Excess Charges Fees to be set as a 
deterrent

No change to fees proposed, in 
line with car park charges.

Garden Waste Sacks Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping

No change to fees.

Bulky Waste Maximise income without 
encouraging fly tipping

No change to fees.

Charges for street 
scene fines

Charges for fines listed for 
each offence  

Set to cover costs. Includes 
dropping of litter

Page 104



Community Development

Activity Policy Proposal 
Ayscoughfee Gardens
(Tennis, Putting and Bowls) 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

Fees and charges will be 
increased by between 5% and 
10% for 2015-16.

Ayscoughfee Hall Museum To cover costs and 
match competitor prices

Existing fees assessed and 
revised where appropriate. 
New public events to be 
booked on ‘price on 
application’ basis.

South Holland Centre To meet income targets 
whilst enabling 
maximum community 
use of the Centre.

Small rise in some cinema 
tickets after benchmarking 
against competitors.  No 
increase in room hire rates in 
continuing competitive market. 

Halley Stewart Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Castle Field To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Monks House Playing Field 
(Spalding Special Expenses)

To increase charges in 
line with inflation and 
review annually

No change to fees.

Castle Sports Complex and 
Swimming Pool

Review annually with 
contractor 

No change to fees.

Assets and Property

Activity Policy Proposal
Industrial Units A phased  approach to 

increasing fees and 
charges was approved, 
in two lots of 3 years, 
spreading over 6 years 
in total

No change for 2015-16. In line 
with market competitors 

Planning and Building Control

Activity Policy Proposal
Land Charges Charge in line with 

competitors
No change to fees and 
charges

Building Control Charge based on 
hourly rate to 
reflect the actual 
cost of each 
project.

Charges based on hourly rate, 
to cover costs incurred by the 
Council.

Page 105



High Hedges Charge set by 
ourselves

Proposal to maintain our 
charge to encourage 
submissions.

Building Control Consultancy These are set by 
us, at a cost per 
project as per the 
new fee 
regulations which 
are based on 
hourly rates, as per 
CIPFA guidance. 
Charges based on 
amount per m2, in 
line with the market 
rate activity

Fees are set by SHDC. 
Service to maintain charges 
based on a market rate.

Housing

Activity Policy Proposal
General Fund Housing 
Rents

Increase in rents in line with 
Government Guidelines 

Page 106



January 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Business Rates 

Extension of Transitional Relief for small and medium 
properties - Guidance 
 

Page 107



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

January 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4458-7

Page 108

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


3 

Contents 

 

About this guidance       4 

Introduction          4 

Section 1 

How will the relief be provided?     5 

Which properties will benefit from the relief?    5 

How much relief will be available?    5 

Recalculations of relief      6 

State Aid        7 

How will the relief work in Enterprise Zones?   8 

 

Section 2 

Calculation for the extension of transitional relief  8 

 

 

 

Page 109



4 

Extension of Transitional Relief for small and 
medium properties - Guidance 
 

About this guidance 
 
1. This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the extension 

of transitional relief for small and medium properties announced in the Autumn 
Statement on 3 December 2014. This Guidance applies to England only. 

 
2. This guidance sets out the detailed criteria which central government will use to 

determine funding relief for properties falling out of transition to higher bills in 
2015/16. The Guidance does not replace existing legislation on any other relief. 

 
3. Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to:  
 ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Introduction 
 
4. The transitional relief scheme was introduced in 2010 to help those ratepayers who 

were faced with higher bills.  The scheme ends on 31 March 2015 and as a result a 
small number of ratepayers will face a jump to their full rates bill from 1 April 2015.  

 
5. The government announced in the Autumn Statement on 3 December 2014 that it 

will extend to March 2017 the current transitional relief scheme for properties with a 
rateable value up to and including £50,000.    

 
6. This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of 

the policy.  The number of ratepayers affected in each local authority is very small 
(typically below 100) and the government recognises that authorities may choose to 
explore manual solutions to calculate the relief.  If as a result authorities are unable 
to include the award of relief in bills for the beginning of 2015/16 then they are 
encouraged to inform the ratepayers affected that relief is available. 

Page 110

mailto:ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk


5 

Section 1:  
 
Extension of Transitional Relief  
 
How will the relief be provided? 
 
7. As this is a measure for 2015-16 and 2016-17, the government is not changing the 

legislation around transitional relief.  Instead the government will, in line with the 
eligibility criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local authorities that use their 
discretionary relief powers, under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988, as amended1, to grant relief.  It will be for individual local billing authorities to 
adopt a local scheme and decide in each individual case when to grant relief under 
section 47.  Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for the local 
share of the discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003).  In view of the fact that such expenditure can be 
reimbursed, the government expects local government to grant discretionary relief 
to qualifying ratepayers.  

 
8. Central government will reimburse billing authorities and those major precepting 

authorities within the rates retention system for the actual cost to them under the 
rates retention scheme of the relief that falls within the definitions in this guidance.   

 
Which properties will benefit from relief? 
 
9. Properties that will benefit are those with a rateable value up to and including 

£50,000 who would have received transitional relief in 2015/16 or 2016/17 had the 
existing transitional relief scheme continued in its current format.  In line with the 
existing thresholds in the transitional relief scheme, the £50,000 rateable value 
threshold should be based on the rateable value shown for 1/4/10 or the substituted 
day in the cases of splits and mergers.    
 

10. This policy applies to transitional relief only (i.e. those moving to higher bills).   
 

11. As the grant of the relief is discretionary, authorities may choose not to grant the 
relief if they consider that appropriate, for example where granting the relief would 
go against the authority’s wider objectives for the local area. We would encourage 
councillors to be consulted on the final scheme that the local authority adopts, so 
there is a clear line of accountability. 
 

How much relief will be available?  
 
12. The government will fund Localism Act discounts to ensure eligible properties 

receive the same level of protection they would have received had the transitional 

                                            
 
1 Section 47 was amended by the Localism Act 2011 

Page 111



6 

relief scheme extended into 2015/16 and 2016/17.   The transitional relief scheme 
should be assumed to remain as it is in the current statutory scheme2 except that: 
 

a. the cap on increases for small properties (with a rateable value of less than 
£18,000/£25,500 in London) in both 2015/16 & 2016/17 should be assumed 
to be 15% (before the increase for the change in the multiplier)3, and 

b. the cap on increases for other properties (up to and including £50,000 
rateable value) in both 2015/16 and 2016/17 should be assumed to be 25% 
(before the increase for the change in the multiplier) 4.   

 
13. As explained above, the scheme applies only to properties up to and including 

£50,000 rateable value based on the value shown for 1/4/10 or the substituted day 
in the cases of splits and mergers.  Changes in rateable value which take effect 
from a later date should be calculated using the normal rules in the transitional relief 
scheme5.  For the avoidance of doubt, properties whose rateable value is £50,000 
or less on 1 April 2010 (or the day of merger) but increase above £50,000 from a 
later date will still be eligible for the relief.  Where necessary the Valuation Office 
Agency will continue to issue certificates for the value at 31 March 20106 or 1 April 
20107.  The relief should be calculated on a daily basis.   
 

14. A detailed explanation and illustration of how the relief (and the associated section 
31 grant) should be calculated is at Annex A. 
 

Recalculations of relief 
 

15. As with the current transitional relief scheme, the amount of relief awarded should 
be recalculated in the event of a change of circumstances.  This could include, for 
example, a backdated change to the rateable value or the hereditament.  This 
change of circumstances could arise during the year in question or during a later 
year.   
 

16. The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionery Relief) Regulations 1989 (S.I. 1989/1059)8 
require authorities to provide ratepayers with at least one year’s notice in writing 
before  any decision to revoke or vary a decision so as to increase the amount the 
ratepayer has to pay  takes effect.  Such a revocation or variation of a decision can 
only take effect at the end of a financial year.  But within these regulations, local 
authorities may still make decisions which are conditional upon eligibily crtieria or 
rules for calculating relief which allow the amount of relief to be amended within the 
year to reflect changing circumstances. 
 

                                            
 
2 As prescribed in the Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable Amounts) (England) Regulations 2009 No. 3343. 
3 Specifically, X in regulation 8(3) for the years commencing 1 April 2015 and 1 April 2016 should be 
assumed to be 115.  Q should be assumed to be 1.019. 
4 Specifically X in regulation 8(2) for years commencing 1 April 2015 and 2016 should be assumed to be 
125.  Q should be assumed to be 1.019. 
5 i.e. “N over J” for reductions or “N minus J” for increases. 
6 Regulations 15 or 16, SI 2009 No. 3342. 
7 Regulation 14 SI 2009 No.3343. 
8 The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionery Relief) Regulations 1989 No. 1059. 

Page 112



7 

17. Therefore, when making an award for the extension of transitional relief, local 
authorities should ensure in the conditions of the award that the relief can be 
recalculated in the event of a change to the rating list for the property concerned 
(retrospective or otherwise).   This is so that the relief can be re-calculated if the 
rateable value changes.   
 

State Aid 
 
18. State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state funded 

support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is likely to 
amount to State Aid. However the extension of transitional relief will be State Aid 
compliant where it is provided in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations 
(1407/2013)9. 

 
19. The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of De 

Minimis aid in a three year period (consisting of the current financial year and the 
two previous financial years). Local authorities should familiarise themselves with 
the terms of this State Aid exemption, in particular the types of undertaking that are 
excluded from receiving De Minimis aid (Article 1), the relevant definition of 
undertaking (Article 2(2)10) and the requirement to convert the aid into Euros11. 

 
20. To administer De Minimis it is necessary for the local authority to establish that the 

award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more than €200,000 
of De Minimis aid. Note that the threshold only relates to aid provided under the De 
Minimis Regulations (aid under other exemptions or outside the scope of State Aid 
is not relevant to the De Minimis calculation). Where local authorities have further 
questions about De Minimis or other aspects of State Aid law, they should seek 
advice from their legal department in the first instance12.   
 

How will the relief work in Enterprise Zones? 
 
21. Where an eligible property is also eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, then Enterprise 

Zone relief should be granted and this will be funded under the rates retention 
scheme by a deduction from the central share. Local authorities should not claim 
funding for the extension of transitional relief on properties which would otherwise 
qualify for Enterprise Zone government funded relief. 
 

22. If a property in an Enterprise Zone is not eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, or that 
relief has ended, the extension of transitional relief may be granted in the normal 
way, and this would be reimbursed by grant under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  

                                            
 
9 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF 
10 The ‘New SME Definition user guide and model declaration’ provides further guidance: 
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf 
11 http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm 
12 Detailed State Aid guidance can also be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_La
w_Requirements.pdf 

Page 113

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf


8 

Section 2: 
  
Calculation for the extension of transitional relief 
 
Calculating the extension of transitional relief where other reliefs apply 
 
Under the existing statutory transition scheme which ends on 31 March 2015, transitional 
relief is measured before all other reliefs.  But the extension of transitional relief into 
2015/16 and 2016/17 will be delivered via section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 (as amended by the Localism Act) which is measured after other reliefs (including 
other Localism Act delivered reliefs such as retail relief).   
 
Therefore, for the purposes of awarding relief and claiming section 31 grant, authorities 
should measure the extension of transitional relief after all other reliefs.  To do this 
authorities will need to: 

 
Step 1: identify those eligible properties which would have qualified for 

transitional relief in 2015/16,  
Step 2: calculate the actual rates bill for those properties in 2015/16 after all 

other reliefs assuming transitional relief has ended, 
Step 3: calculate the rates bill for those properties in 2015/16 after all other 

reliefs assuming transitional relief continued (in line with the assumptions 
in this guidance), and 

Step 4: calculate the difference between stage 2 and 3 and award a Localism Act 
discount to that value. 

 
Authorities will be asked to report the cost of extending the transitional relief scheme using 
this methodology from which the associated section 31 grant will be calculated (using the 
appropriate local share). 
 
Example 
 
If a ratepayer would have been eligible for transitional relief of 25% caps in 2015/16 then 
their bill is calculated as follows (ignoring inflation): 
 

 
Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

 
2014/15 2015/16  2015/16  2015/16 

Bill before any reliefs 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 
Transitional relief (had the original 

scheme continued)  -4,000 n/a -2,500 n/a 
Net bill before Localism Act discount 6,000 10,000 7,500 10,000 
Localism Act discount (to give effect 

to transitional relief) n/a n/a n/a -2,500 
Net rates bill 6,000 10,000 7,500 7,500 

For illustration we have assumed the multiplier does not change between years.   

Page 114



9 

     This is the simple case.  The value of the transitional relief had the scheme continued is 
£2,500.  In practice extending transitional relief will be achieved by awarding a Localism 
Act discount which is calculated at the end of the bill.  But because there are no other 
reliefs the value of the discount to ensure in practice transitional relief continues is also 
£2,500.    
 
But if, for example, the same ratepayer would otherwise have fallen out of transitional relief 
in 2015/16 also receives 80% charitable mandatory relief then their bill is calculated as 
follows (ignoring inflation): 
 

 
Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

 
2014/15 2015/16  2015/16 2015/16 

Bill before any reliefs 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 
Transitional relief (had the original 

scheme continued) -4,000 n/a -2,500 0 
Net bill before Charitable relief or 

Localism Act discount 6,000 n/a 7,500 10,000 
Charitable Relief -4,800 -8,000 -6,000 -8,000 

Localism Act discount (to give effect 
to transitional relief) 0 0 0 -500 

Net rates bill 1,200 2,000 1,500 1,500 
For illustration we have assumed the multiplier does not change between years.   

     In the above example, whilst the reported cost of transitional relief in 2015/16 would still 
have been £2,500 had the scheme continued in its current form, this is measured before 
all other reliefs.  In practice extending transitional relief will be achieved by awarding a 
Localism Act discount which is calculated after all other reliefs.  So the value of the 
discount to ensure in practice transitional relief continues is £500.    
 
 
 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council
Corporate Plan 2015-19

DRAFT

@SHollandDC         South Holland District Council         www.sholland.gov.ukPage 117



    2

Welcome to South Holland District Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2019,
the Council’s vision for the district and it’s priorities for this period.

Our Corporate Plan sets out how we will work with partners and the community to
ensure that South Holland continues to be a place of choice for people to live, work,
visit and play.

It is based on information about the area and identifies how we will achieve our
long-term vision, what our key priorities are and how we will deliver the services
our residents want.

Introduction

Our Council

Our priorities

Our ambition

To have pride in South Holland by supporting
the district and residents to develop and thrive

To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way

To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent
communities while protecting the most vulnerable

South Holland District Council has always been a forward-thinking, entrepreneurial
and innovative authority. We continue to strive for excellence and deliver great value
for money for our residents while making the most of the huge opportunities for
economic growth in our district.

To continue to increase the prosperity and wellbeing of our residents and businesses,
whilst striving to protect and enhance the district’s environment and its unique and
historic character.

Page 118



Surrounded by wide open countryside,
the district of South Holland
encompasses the flat fenlands of South
East Lincolnshire, characterised by big
skies and fertile land that was reclaimed
from the sea over many centuries. 

Once renowned for its tulip industry,
it is now recognised nationally as the hub
of the UK agriculture, food manufacturing
and logistics sectors. South Holland is
a welcoming place of thriving local
communities offering great schools,
a quality of life well above the national
average and broad ranges of high
quality family and starter homes.
It is a district with a unique history
and an exciting future. 

South Holland is well served by road links
- the A16, A17, and A52 all run through
the district, enabling easy access to the
A1 North and South, and the A14 to the
Midlands. The recently upgraded joint
train line provides a direct rail link to the
East Coast Mainline at Peterborough,
and with London King’s Cross just over
an hour away by train this ensures the
district is more accessible than ever.

Our traditional market towns and villages
retain the historic character that is unique
to Lincolnshire. Our proud heritage,
stretching back to Roman times, is
displayed for all to see, from historic
windmills to our modern day flower
industry, with the fens and drains in
between. The main towns and population
centres of Spalding, Crowland, Holbeach,
Donington, Long Sutton and Sutton
Bridge all feature strong community
identities and activities, matched by
thriving business and industries.

    3

Our District

Page 119



    4

South Holland is a popular choice
for individuals, families and businesses
because of high employment, low crime,
a rich mix of skills, education,
and infrastructure.

The population is expanding healthily
with one of the highest growth rates of
any local authority area in England and
Wales. There are now 89,200 residents
in the area with estimates that the
population will reach 102,000 by 2021. 

The growing population brings with it
opportunities for commercial growth
and development, as well as increasing
demands for service providers. South
Holland has a buoyant economy and
a strong property market with prices
remaining competitive in comparison
to many other areas.

The continued success of major
industries such as agriculture,
horticulture, food processing, packaging
and distribution, together with related

commercial support services, is
testament to the skills base, education
and support for entrepreneurs. 

This success is reflected in an increasing
demand for high quality housing,
commercial developments and business
support facilities. South Holland District
Council is at the forefront of innovative
schemes to develop high quality
affordable homes for purchase,
shared ownership and rent. 

With financial support from South
Holland District Council, superfast fibre
broadband is being rolled out across the
district for the benefit of residential and
business users alike.

The Wash estuary with its wide range of
wildlife, attracts a steady stream of visitors
along with the historically important,
Grade 1 listed Ayscoughfee Hall and
Gardens which dates back to 1450 and
the many architecturally distinctive parish
churches. Spalding’s Springfields
Shopping Centre and the town’s Festival
Gardens are stand out features of the
area’s more modern attractions. 

Thanks to its highly rated quality of life,
the attractive environment, good schools
and strong communities, South Holland
continues to grow and develop as the
place in Lincolnshire to live, visit and
create thriving business.

Page 120



Council priorities for 2015-2019

    5

To develop safer, stronger, healthier and
more independent communities while
protecting the most vulnerable

We have…
n Secured more than £1 million of

funding to the district for projects
to improve community facilities such
as village halls and skate parks,
creating and promoting volunteering
opportunities, and providing advice
on welfare changes and benefits
advice to residents

n Implemented Member Designated
Budgets in April 2011, which have
supported 587 community projects

n Adopted a new Housing Allocations
Policy in June 2013 to focus the
allocation of social housing to those
in the highest need and ensure that
people take up the most suitable
housing option for them

We will…
n Enable the effective planning and

delivery of housing solutions to meet
local needs by providing access to a
range of housing options, influencing
standards and being a landlord
of choice

n Lead and support the South Holland
Health and Wellbeing Partnership to
address key local health, care and
wellbeing issues

n Work with partners to support older
people to remain active, participative
and live independently within
the community

n Deliver council services that improve
the opportunities for vulnerable
residents and families with
complex needs

n Ensure that national policies for
protecting children and vulnerable
adults are effectively implemented
across all areas of our business

Page 121



    6

To have pride in South Holland by
supporting the district and residents
to develop and thrive

We have…
n Achieved year on year reductions

in the amount of waste collected
and sent to landfill

n Grown the supply of affordable
housing by building on Council-owned
land as part of a growing ambition to
increase housing supply

n Installed additional bins in public
areas and achieved faster clean up
times by street cleansing teams

n Launched campaigns to involve
local people in cleaning up their area,
including ‘Litter Blitz’ and ‘Pride in
South Holland’ campaigns

n Supported events to celebrate
the London 2012 Olympic and
Paralympic Games, and the
Queen’s Diamond Jubilee

We will…
n Develop and implement a local

planning and development structure
that achieves substantial and
continued growth

n Work towards delivery and maintenance
of a five year housing land supply

n Lead, enable and co-ordinate
the provision of a range of local
community and leisure facilities
that improve education,
health and wellbeing 

n Work together with partners and local
communities to improve the quality
of public spaces to be cleaner,
greener and safer

n Work with our partners to reduce
and prevent crime and anti-social
behaviour and protect the
community and environment

Page 122



    7

To provide the right services,
at the right time and in the right way

We have…
n Modernised services to include the

introduction of electronic submissions
for planning and building control
applications and enhanced mobile
and remote working arrangements

n Invested in new refuse collection
vehicles with smart in-cab technology
to improve efficiency of collections

n Implemented a Shared Management
Team with Breckland Council, saving
more than £1 million in the first year

We will…
n Ensure that Council services are

accessible, customer friendly and
responsive to residents and
business needs

n Develop the council’s transformation
programme and work with partners
to drive through efficiencies and
achieve resilience

n Develop our commercial approach
in a consistent way to secure our
financial position by exploring
opportunities to increase income

n Ensure that the asset base of the
council is managed to its maximum

n Develop our organisations to be
business ready, community focused
and partners of choice 

n Develop and implement a strategy to
equip staff with the skills needed to
drive the organisation forward

n Ensure that our regulatory services
are consistent and effective and that
the council is legally compliant

Page 123



To encourage the local economy
to be vibrant with continued growth

We have…
n Supported and engaged

with businesses through the
‘Grants4Growth’ programme to
award business grants, attract private
investment, create and safeguard jobs
and increase business turnover

n Established a Spalding Town Centre
Manager and Management Board

n Supported new businesses with
reduced introductory rent periods
when taking one of the 50 council
industrial units within the district

n Awarded Section 106 funding from
planning contributions to projects
in Spalding and Sutton Bridge to
enhance towns within the district

We will…
n Work with our partners to ensure

that the technological infrastructure
is available, accessible and meets
the needs of our communities
and businesses

n Build strong working relationships,
including with partners across sectors,
to draw in funding and resources to
the district

n Build on the key sector strengths
of South Holland district to retain
and attract business investment

n Grow and encourage local
opportunities and activities for
businesses in the district

n Develop a clear “open for business”
approach across all council services
that promotes and supports
business growth

    8

Page 124



    9

Delivering quality and value for money

Rising to the challenge of unprecedented
pressures on spending and continuing
demand for efficiency savings, the
Council has achieved much to protect
local services and reduce costs.

By combining new and more efficient
ways of delivering local services with
finding new sources of income, our
success continues in maintaining the
quality of services at the same time
as reducing local tax levels. 

Our priority in the years ahead is
to ensure we continue to strive for
excellence in both how we manage
your money, and the quality of services
we provide. We will seek to maximise
future income from council assets for use
in meeting the challenge of downward
pressures on government funding
for local authorities.  

Over recent years we have worked
hard to deliver significant savings
and organisational efficiencies. Through
our programme of transformation,
and new commercial partnerships we
are maintaining services at reduced cost
to local taxpayers. A joint company
(Compass Point Business Services Ltd)
formed in partnership with East Lindsey
District Council delivers key services to
both councils including human resources,
ICT, revenues and benefits,
and financial services.  

The savings from this joint venture are
expected to amount to £10m between
both councils, with another £500k annual
savings from the arrangement with
Breckland Council to share
chief executive and senior management.
These savings have enabled the council
to deliver year on year reductions in
council tax levels every year since 2010,
while all the time maintaining essential
local services.

Page 125



    10

Managing our finances 2015 - 2019
Medium Term Financial Strategy

Figure 2 shows where each pound
that the Council spends comes from.
There are a number of different sources
of income, with only 24p in every pound
funded by Council Tax.    

It is important to have a range of
income sources so that the Council is
not over-reliant on any one income stream.
The Medium Term Financial Strategy
includes plans to diversify the range of
funding sources and identify new income
generation opportunities to ensure the
Council has a resilient financial future.

The Corporate Plan is supported by the
Council’s financial strategy, which covers
the same four year period (2015 to 2019).
This financial forecast is a plan of everything
the Council will spend over that period, and
the income it will receive to pay for this.

Figure 1 shows the total net cost of services
and income of the Council for each of the four
years. This is the best forecast at the current
time, and is subject to change depending on
a range of local and national factors such
as the economy. 

The Council has a balanced budget position
for the coming year (2015-16). In later years
a funding gap has been identified resulting
from increasing cost pressures and reducing

Other income
(£0.16)

Fees and
charges
(£0.17)

Rental income
(£0.04)

Reserves
(£0.10)

Retained
Business Rates

(£0.17)

Revenue
Support
Grant
(£0.12)

Council Tax Raised
(including Parishes)

(£0.24) 

government funding. The Council’s developing
Transformation Programme is being targeted to address
this in order to present a balanced and sustainable
budget and medium term plan. 

14,400

13,400

12,400

11,400

10,400

9,400

(£’000)
14-15

Net cost of Services Total Income
15-16 18-1916-17 17-18

Figure 1

Figure 2

Page 126



    11

Harnessing the advantages
of the digital age
Doing business online is now an
everyday activity for the vast majority
of UK residents, providing, as it does,
fast and convenient channels to pay bills,
request services and make purchases. 

Here in South Holland we know from
feedback how quickly customer
expectations are changing. More and
more residents expect our services
to offer straightforward digital access
24 hours a day, seven days a week.
We are now working hard to harness
the advantages of the digital age and
provide modern, smooth and fast
customer experiences. 

For all our communities, reliable and high
quality digital services help mitigate both
rural and urban isolation, particularly
among older age groups where the ability
to maintain regular contact with friends
and family via email, social media or

video messaging can make a big
difference to health and quality of life.

For the Council, increasing the availability
of services via digital channels offers
opportunities to continue reducing
service costs (paid by local taxpayers),
and means we will be able to offer more
time to those people who either want
to meet with us face to face, via phone,
or who are unable to contact us via
online channels.

Within our own organisation, the redesign
of services to harness efficiencies and
increase the accessibility offered by new
technology will release funds to keep
council tax low, and further improve thePage 127



    12

convenience and ease of access to
services for residents. 

The importance of reaping maximum
benefit from digital channels is highlighted
by the Government’s drive to increase use
of digital technology and so provide a
more efficient service for users, as well
as enabling customers to engage in ways
that are most convenient for them. 

We share this government goal
and now plan to deliver for our
communities through:    

n Developing an improved website
designed for the needs of today’s
customers, that is accessible to
everyone, with online content that
is useful and easy to find

n Increasing the range of council
services available online and
accessible 24 hours a day,
7 days a week

n Making greater use of social media
such as Twitter and Facebook to
provide up to date information
and news about the full range
of council activity.

Harnessing the advantages
of the digital age (continued)

Page 128



    13

We have 37 councillors representing 18 wards

nThe Conservative group, led by
Cllr Gary Porter, holds the majority, with 25 seats. 

nThe Independent group, led by
Cllr Angela Newton, holds 12 seats.

Your Councillors

Cllr Brian Alcock
Crowland and Deeping
St Nicholas

Cllr Angela Harrison
Crowland and Deeping
St Nicholas

Cllr Martin Howard
Holbeach Town

Cllr Rita Rudkin
Holbeach Town

Cllr Simon Booth
Long Sutton

Cllr Andy Tennant
Long Sutton

Cllr David Wilkinson
Long Sutton

Cllr Anthony Casson
Moulton, Weston
and Cowbit

Cllr Rodney Grocock
Moulton, Weston
and Cowbit

Cllr Andrew Woolf
Moulton, Weston
and Cowbit

Cllr James Avery
Pinchbeck and
Surfleet

Cllr Sally-Ann Slade
Pinchbeck and
Surfleet

Cllr Elizabeth Sneath
Pinchbeck and
Surfleet

Cllr Gary Taylor
Spalding Castle

Cllr George Aley
Spalding Monks
House

Cllr Angela Newton
Spalding Monks
House

Cllr Graham Dark
Spalding St John’s

Cllr Roger Perkins
Spalding St John’s 

Cllr Howard Johnson
Spalding St Mary’s

Cllr Gary Porter
Spalding St Mary’s

Cllr David Ashby
Spalding St Paul’s

Cllr Andrew
Miller
Spalding St Paul’s

Cllr Roger
Gambba-Jones
Spalding Wygate

Cllr Christine
Lawton
Spalding Wygate

Cllr Michael
Booth
Sutton Bridge

Cllr Chris Brewis
Sutton Bridge

Cllr Michael
Seymour
The Saints

Cllr Malcolm
Chandler
Whaplode and
Holbeach St John’s

Cllr Robert
Creese
Whaplode and
Holbeach St John’s

Cllr Paul Przyszlak
Crowland and Deeping
St Nicholas

Cllr Jane King
Donington, Quadring
and Gosberton

Cllr Peter Coupland
Fleet

Cllr Sarah Wilkinson
Gedney

Cllr Nick Worth
Holbeach Hurn

Cllr Robert Clark
Donington, Quadring
and Gosberton

Cllr Francis
Biggadike
Holbeach Town

Find out more

To find out more about your councillors, including contact
details and information about which committees they sit on,
visit: www.sholland.gov.uk/council/councillors. There is a
vacancy in the Donington, Quadring and Gosberton ward
until the May 2015 elections.

Page 129



To request this document in large print or translated,
please call Customer Services on 01775 761161

Copyright © Produced by South Holland District Council February 2015

South Holland District Council

Council Offices

Priory Road

Spalding

Lincolnshire 

PE11 2XE

Translation available
Доступный перевод

Tłumaczenie dostępne

a tradução disponível

Pieejams tulkojums

Vertimas rasti

@SHollandDC          South Holland District Council          www.sholland.gov.uk

01775 761161         info@sholland.gov.uk         01775 711253

Page 130



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finance and Democratic Services 
and the Assistant Director Finance (S151 Officer)

To: Cabinet – 17 February 2015

(Author: Mark Woolerton – Recovery & Support Supervisor)

Subject: Write Offs

Purpose: To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report reviews irrecoverable debts over £1,050 which require Cabinet approval 
for write off.  A summary of these debts is shown in the table below and they total 
£23652.57

1.2 The need to write debt off usually arises due to the debtor being untraceable, 
insolvent, ceased trading with no assets or deceased with insufficient funds 
in the estate.  Where possible all methods of recovery are pursued before 
making the decision to write off. This can include internal recovery action, 
use of debt collection agents, external tracing agents and procedures through 
the Courts.

1.3     A summary of debts requiring approval for write off is given in the following tables.

Value 
by 

Debtor
     £

Council 
Tax

    £

Business 
Rates

      £

Accounts 
Receivable

      £

Former 
Tenant 
Arrears

    £

Housing 
Benefit  

Overpayments
             £

       TOTAL

              £
  1,050 - 

1,500 2333.86 1306.33 - 3640.19

  1,500 - 
2,000 1874.26 3207.52 - 5081.78

Over 
2,000 2488.00 12442.60 - 14930.60

Total 4362.26 17983.98 1306.33 - 23652.57

Recommendation: 

a) That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write off.

NOTE: Please raise any queries that you may have about individual write offs, as 
included in the Appendices, with Mark Woolerton at least two working days ahead of 
the scheduled meeting.

Page 131

Agenda Item 9.



Value Council 
Tax

     £

Business 
Rates

     £

Accounts 
Receivable

        £

Former 
Tenant 
Arrears
        £

Housing 
Benefit 

Overpayments
              £

  TOTAL

        £

2013/14
Total 
written off 
in that year

57044.07 71854.45 33363.01 12403.28 174664.81

2014/15 
Previously 
approved 
write offs

62105.05 48886.57 9509.27 17592.46 138093.35

Write offs 
included in 
this report

4362.26 17983.98 1306.33 - 23652.57

Write offs 
pending 
from 
Cabinet 
13.01.15

9052.26 3390.59 3086.67 - 15529.52

2014/15
Total 
written off in 
this year so 
far

75519.57 
or 0.20 % 

of 2014/15 
collectable 

debit

70261.14 or  
0.27%of 
2014/15 

collectable 
debit

13902.27 17592.46 or 
1.6% of 

repayable 
overpayments

177275.44

           Details of the individual debts are shown in the Confidential Appendices as listed 
below:

 Appendix A – Council Tax
 Appendix B – Business Rates
 Appendix C – Accounts Receivable (formerly Sundry Debtors)
 Appendix D – Former Tenant Arrears
 Appendix E – Housing Benefit Overpayments

1.4 All debts approved for write off will be set against the existing bad debt provisions 
and they can be resurrected in full or in part at any time should new information 
come to light suggesting that they may be recoverable after all.  In every case, we 
believe that all collection options have been exhausted and that there are now no 
realistic prospects of recovery.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To approve the recommendation.

2.2 To approve the recommendation with amendments.

2.3 Not to approve the recommendation.

Page 132



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 All recovery methods available have been considered and where appropriate 
pursued before making the decision to write off.  

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND TIMELINES

4.1 Not applicable

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 This report has been written in line with the Constitution.

5.2.2 The Appendices to this report are confidential as they include exempt information 
as described in Schedule 12A Part 1, Paragraph 1 (information relating to any 
individual), Paragraph 2 (information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual) and Paragraph 3 (information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person [including the authority holding that information]).

5.2.3 The anticipated benefits of publishing information identifying individuals does not 
outweigh the risks of a data protection breach and it is therefore considered that the 
information should remain exempt from publication and public meetings.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none.

5.4 Crime and Disorder 

5.4.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none.

5.5 Equality and Diversity & Human Rights

5.5.1 The possible implications have been considered and there are none.

5.6 Financial 

5.6.1 The proposed write offs will be written off against the existing bad debt provisions. 

5.7 Risk Management 

5.7.1 The possible existence of actual or potential implications has been considered and 
there are none.

Page 133



5.8 Staffing

5.8.1 The possible existence of actual or potential implications have been considered and 
there are none.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.
    

Background papers: None

Lead Contact Officer
Name: Mark Woolerton
Direct line: 01775 764631
Email: mark.woolerton@cpbs.com

Key Decision – No 

Confidential Appendices attached to this report for consideration:
Appendix A – Council Tax Write Offs
Appendix B – Business Rate Write Offs
Appendix C – Accounts Receivable (formerly Sundry Debtors) Write Offs
Appendix D – Former Tenant Arrears Write Offs
Appendix E – Housing Benefit Overpayment Write Offs

(Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not for publication 
by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 (Information 
which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual) and 3 (Information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 
1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda as Item 12.)

Page 134



Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Financial Performance Quarter 3 2014-15
	Enc. 1 for Financial Performance Quarter 3 2014-15

	8. Draft Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan and Draft Corporate Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H
	Appendix I
	Appendix J

	9. Write Offs
	12. Write-Offs Appendix

